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SENATOR DEAN FLOREZ:  I’d like to thank the senators who are here of the G.O. Committee.  I’d like to thank Senator Figueroa, as well, who is the chairwoman of the Business and Professions Committee.  We’ll be talking a lot about the B&P Code today.  And I do want to say from the start that seating is limited and particularly here at the dais, I’d like to make sure that it is a senators only, if you will, seating arrangement.  So, if staff, if we get more senators to come, I’d like to relinquish some chairs to make sure we have room for the members, as well.  

Obviously we do have a full room.  I would like to tell you from the very beginning of this hearing that I intend to hear not just, if you will, from government regulators, the Office of the Attorney General, and of course the advocates for reclassification, and industry representatives, but more importantly from the very kids who this product is targeted towards.  So at some point in time I know that they have a busy schedule as well, and I want to thank the people that came out from the East Coast, particularly.  I know the weather was not the best.  So we’ll try to make this move as quickly as possible.
But at some point in time I would like to have and may ask in between a panel to have some of the representatives, some of the younger teenagers and some of the advocates give us their words, if we could, so they could go on with their day, as well.  I want to make sure you knew at some point we’re going to fit that as part of the agenda.

As you know, last year the members of this committee and the full legislature passed AB 417 which proposed to clarify and codify existing state law to treat flavored malt beverages as malt beverage products consistent with federal standards.  In his veto message of AB 417, the Governor emphasized there should be “public debate and serious consideration of the policy issues surrounding flavored malt beverages,” and that the veto was not to suggest that the state’s regulatory administration of flavored malt beverages is flawed.  And so today we’re going to take the Governor up on that particular comment in the veto and we are going to have some debate today on the policy issues surrounding flavored malt beverages.

Obviously the question posed by today’s informational hearing, “Flavored Malt Beverages Are They Beer or Distilled Spirits?” is the question of the day.  And I do know that legislators of both houses have expressed an interest in introducing measures this session that would reclassify flavored malt beverages as distilled spirits instead of beer resulting in additional tax revenue that would be directed toward alcohol prevention, treatment and enforcement programs to help reduce teenage drinking.
This is a public forum.  It’s intended to allow for spirited discussion.  That is no pun intended, of the policy surrounding flavored malt beverages.  I can assure you that the witnesses that we have assembled today are expert in their field.  We have many who consist of government regulators that I have mentioned earlier, reclassification advocates, and of course industry representatives from each of the three tiers: manufacturer, distributor, and retailer.  And I hope that every one of us will get a better understanding of the complex policy issues that surround this particular issue.
At this time, in order to get this hearing moving forward, we do have a first panel of witnesses.  And I want to thank you for coming early to the table.  But, we’d like to hear on section two of our agenda government regulators, Charles N. Bacon, Alcohol and Tobacco Tax and Trade Bureau, Department of the Treasury.  Thank you for coming and before you start, I would like to ask if any member would like to make any comment.  Senator Figueroa.
SENATOR LIZ FIGUEROA:  Yes, Senator Florez, thank you for having this informational hearing.  As you may know, Senator Migden and I have also expressed some interest in this interesting discussion.  As I go up and down the state and I talk to my constituents or even parents, my children are grown, but I am involved with a lot of young activities, and it’s very confusing a lot of parents have the alcopops in their refrigerator and have absolutely no clue what they are.  And they also know that the kids are drinking them at parties and really think they don’t know that there’s alcohol in them.  So I think it’s real important that if anything we’re just educating the public on what the reality of these drinks are.
And in the part of that discussion is why they continue to be labeled as  beer type drinks.  And I’m also very concerned about how the liquor industry may be targeting our young people and especially our young women, even though the industry deny that there are statistics and there are facts that are showing that young girls especially, as young as 13, are falling prey to the industry advertising tactics.  And I've seen them myself.  I’m not 13, but they’re obviously appealing to young women.  And I’m also here on behalf of Senator Migden as a principle coauthor of her bill which takes aim at marketing practices of these alcohol flavored drinks to young kids.  

And I also want to lend my support to Ms. Saldana’s bill that will properly classify these alcoholic beverages as distilled spirits.  And as the current chair of the Select Committee on Children, Youth, and Families, my primary concern is for safety and the welfare of young people throughout our state, especially when it comes to underage drinking.  As we know, it’s attracting all of our society and we see it in schools.  I talk to law enforcement agents and they’re saying this is definitely a growing problem, this underage drinking.

So I’m glad again, Senator, that you’re holding this hearing and we continue the discussion.  Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you, Senator Figueroa.  Any other members of the Senate?  Ms. Saldaña just walked in.  Ms. Saldaña, would you like to make a statement since you’re here?  Just come on up and if you could just pull that microphone this way towards the podium, Ms. Saldaña.  Thank you.
ASSEMBLYMEMBER LORI SALDAÑA:  Well, I just want to thank Senator Figueroa for her support of this issue.  We estimate that $37.5 million can be generated, maybe that’s a number that’s already been put out here, but if these are taxed properly as they should be as distilled beverages rather than malt beverages, then my bill will make sure that money goes to alcohol prevention programs, especially aimed at underage drinkers.  
So I think it is essential that we realize that we should simply tax these based on what they are and not on what people would like to describe them to be.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And what is the bill number?

ASSEMBLYMEMBER SALDAÑA:  Twenty thirteen (AB 2013).  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  AB 2013.  Yes, Senator McClintock.

SENATOR McCLINTOCK:  So, basically this is about raising taxes?  

ASSEMBLYMEMBER SALDAÑA:  This is about accurately adding taxes to distilled beverages which are in fact, distilled beverages.

SENATOR McCLINTOCK:  The answer is yes.  Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you, Ms. Saldaña.  Appreciate that.  Okay, let’s go ahead and begin the hearing.  And again I want to thank Mr. Bacon for making the trip here.  And let’s go ahead and start.  And if you have a presentation, I also have some questions.  Either or.  How would you like to proceed?  Please, go ahead.
MR. CHARLES BACON:  And I apologize for reading from my computer screen, but it’s the easiest thing to do.  Hi.  I’m Charles Bacon.  I’m a program manager Regulations and Rulings Division.  I’ve been with the Alcohol and Tobacco Tax and Trade Bureau (TTB) and its predecessor, the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco & Firearms (ATF) for just over 35 years and have worked in this subject quite a bit in the last few years.
I want to address just a little about the federal view of flavored malt beverages.  And I have three stages.  One is recognizing the issue, two, getting information together, and three, making a decision on what we would do.  And the issue for us really was how to classify and tax beer and malt beverage products that contain flavoring ingredients that contain alcohol.  And two, assuming that we were to classify these as a beer or a malt beverage, how much flavored alcohol could be added to that product to have it remain within a beer classification?  
With that, I’ll go into a little background.  ATF and TTB historically permit the use of alcohol flavoring materials in alcohol beverages.  Flavors and other ingredients containing alcohol are non-beverage products manufactured with distilled spirits.  We consider the distilled spirits in these alcohol flavors to have lost their identity as distilled spirits.  It’s a technical distinction.  Obviously they are still ethyl alcohol, they are still distilled spirits.  But, from a regulatory and statutory point of view, they are non-beverage products.
This means they are non-beverage, they would not be suitable for use as a beverage material even when diluted.  The Internal Revenue tax on non-beverage products is rebated to the manufacturer so that they are essentially made with alcohol which is not taxed.  They may, as I said, they may be used in the manufacture of alcohol beverages.  
With respect to distilled spirits, there is a restriction on the amount of non-beverage flavors that can be used without tax consequence--two and a half percent of the alcohol content.  That’s statutory and it’s a tax break for spirits manufacturers.  However, with respect to beer, the issue is not addressed in the Internal Revenue Code.  There is simply no code provision, positive, negative, in any way that reflects the use of non-beverage flavors in beer products.  We have historically permitted non-beverage flavoring materials to be used in the manufacture of beer and malt beverages.  As flavors, they require some label identification that is made with orange, made with natural flavors, so forth.  But, they have no tax consequence.

As I said, we do not, the Internal Revenue Code does not address the use of flavors.  So these non-beverage flavors may be used in beer.  There is no statutory prohibition or specific authorization.  And it has been long standing practice, probably 40-50 years or more, that we have permitted them.  They have always been used according to our formulas for the intended use which is to add flavor to a brewery product.  

Now, I’ll go back just a little bit.  In 1996, we received a petition from Heublein, Inc., and the petition was to prohibit the use of terms such as margarita, piña colada, and other cocktail terms in malt beverages.  It was a new phenomenon that we had seen at the time kind of probably coming from wine coolers.  We issued an advance notice of a proposed rule making to explore public comment to this petition and received thousands of comments.  The petition was directed solely at labeling.  That is, should we permit labeling of this nature?  It was not directed at the content.  However, during this process, we discovered that by looking at some of the formulas for one particular manufacturer, we found that over 95 percent of the alcohol in some of these products could be derived from flavors.  This was kind of a wake up for us.  We did not realize that before that.  We approve alcohol beverage formulas before they may be used.  And although the alcohol information was probably in those formulas, we approve them without really looking at them without doing the math, without really considering what this might be.  So I have to say that the formula for these products which perhaps gave tacit approval to their production.  
Anyway, that advance notice of rule making, we received thousands of comments, ultimately—

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And the tacit approval—

MR. BACON:  --of production of these products, because we had approved formulas that would allow a large percentage of flavored alcohol.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And the reason for that again, was, your comment, because you weren’t looking at them?

MR. BACON:  We were not really, the flavor alcohol traditionally had been used as a flavoring material had not been used to add alcohol to the product.  We really were not looking for it at that time.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  You are looking for it at this time?

MR. BACON:  Oh, yes we are.  Very certainly.  We questioned whether this was proper, to have this amount of alcohol from flavors in beer and malt beverage products.  However, we cannot administratively make a change like that and realized rule making was necessary.  We issued a revenue ruling in 1996 that said you may use flavored alcohol in beer and malt beverages if it’s over six percent, you’re limited to one and a half percent of the content.  That is, at six percent, it would be approximately one quarter of the alcohol content could come from added flavors.  It did not limit the contribution of alcohol content under six percent, again, because we would have to go through rule making to get there.  We announced our intention to do that.  

Jumping ahead, in about 1999, Diageo and a number of other companies began to produce the flavored malt beverages we see today.  These products are different that the earlier products that I described, because these products essentially derive all of their flavors from added flavoring.  The beer base is stripped of character and then these flavors are added.  And in doing so, a large amount of flavor alcohol is contributed to the product.  However, under the ruling we classify these products as beer and malt beverages. 
By 2001 these products were selling to a large degree and this is what really happened, is that the large amount of product in the marketplace began to draw attention.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let me ask a question about the time line, because you mentioned earlier that we began looking at them and then we skipped from ’96 to about 2000 with kind of an explosion of these particular types of drinks.  During that time, then, what were you folks doing?

MR. BACON:  We were doing a lot of other things, but we were not actively engaged in rule making in this area.  Again, the earlier products had kind of had a small and non growing base and they were not a major concern for us at that time.  The concern began around 2000-2001 when the current round of products began to become very popular.  Smirnoff Ice and Bacardi and a number of other products then began to hit the marketplace and they attracted the attention, obviously attracted consumers’ attention, because people began to buy them, and attracted the attention of many alcohol control boards across the nation.  And we, ATF at the time, were contacted by a number of them saying, hey, what are these?  The question was are these beer?  Are these distilled spirits?  And we again, looked into that question.  Realizing rule making was essential, we did a couple things.  We undertook a study and looked at all the products that fit into this category of flavored malt beverages.  
SENATOR FLOREZ:  What year was that?

MR. BACON:  That was 2000.  And we studied 114 products and found that 105 of them derived 75 percent or more alcohol from added flavors.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So we went from about two products or two—

MR. BACON:  A few—

SENATOR FLOREZ:  --a few in ’90, before ’96 ___ and you were testing 114 by ____.

MR. BACON:  114 and probably, I think at the time we said something like three percent of the market.  It had increased substantially.  So we decided to go rule making, however we did issue a revenue ruling in 2000 and that ruling clarified some of the labeling implications for these products.  Basically it said that you cannot liken the product to distilled spirits.  You cannot use distilled spirits for references.  Such as, this product made with flavors containing vodka.  You could not use that kind of distilled spirits reference on this.  It did allow the use of distilled spirits’ names such as, as I just mentioned, Schmirnoff Ice, a well known brand of distilled spirits.  It permitted that, but it prohibited any reference to, direct reference to distilled spirits.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So that particular action—was that a rule?

MR. BACON:  That was a ruling which is an interpretive ruling.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And that particularly dealt with labeling?  

MR. BACON:  Yes, it did.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And the labeling actually meaning on the physical product itself?

MR. BACON:  Yes.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, not the actual packaging?

MR. BACON:  No, just the actual label wording.  Actual label wording.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Any thought about talking about the similar types of packaging?  Dark versus clear?  This and that?

MR. BACON:  No, not really.  Under the FAA Act we are charged with making sure the consumer is informed about the identity of the product.  But, we perhaps have a little less control over the actual packaging, what it looks like, the kind of container.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And why is that?

MR. BACON:  Well, the Act says we can require certain label information and prohibit certain things that are misleading.  But, the packaging is something that we look at in an overall process and say is this misleading as far as whether this is a beer, whether this appears to be wine, whether this appears to be a spirit.  This is an area that we have, I’d say, somewhat limited control over, over that exact packaging.  And again, remember, these products are classified.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  But, tell me, since I have you here, why do you have some limited control over that type of packaging?

MR. BACON:  The, our regulations really are, or the FAA Act is really directed toward requiring mandatory information.  That is, the label must say this is a malt beverage.  This is a flavored malt beverage.  It has a particular alcohol content.  It doesn’t say if it has, we don’t have the authority say, to prohibit a particular brand name unless we feel that is misleading.  And we would have to make a specific finding to define that.

Let me go on.  We determined to go rulemaking on this subject of flavored malt beverages.  And we issued a notice in March 2003.  ATF management at that time was firmly committed to limiting the alcohol content in flavored malt beverages to 0.5 percent alcohol.  Some people call that the one in ten rule, the ten percent rule.  Flavored malt beverages typically are five percent alcohol.  They are the same, they’re in the same alcohol range as beer.  So they are not high alcohol like distilled spirits.  
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is that about the same as a shot of vodka?

MR. BACON:  There would be the same, probably a close equivalent amount of alcohol.  Obviously the vodka is much stronger content.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is it about the same, though?  Vodka?

MR. BACON:  Yes, the average, probably the amount of ethyl alcohol is the same.  Anyway, our notice prohibited or proposed to limit the amount of flavor alcohol to 0.5 percent.  And management was very strongly committed to that.  After we published that rule, we—oh, one additional thing.  In that rule we did propose to require alcohol content on flavored malt beverages, and in fact, on any malt beverage or beer that had any amount of added alcohol to it.  As you may know, alcohol content labeling is actually prohibited under the Federal Alcohol Administration Act and that was overturned in a court case 10 or 15 years ago, but we do not require it.  So that most beers and malt beverages do not have alcohol content, however, we believed it would be one additional consumer protection to require alcohol content on flavored malt beverages.  So that was part of the proposal.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, and so, just so we’re clear on that point.  So, you then went the further step in terms of requiring the labeling so it had to have, it had to say alcohol.  Is that correct?

MR. BACON:  No, it had to have a percent.  It had to say five percent alcohol by volume.  Yes, and alcohol content.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And was there talk about points or…
MR. BACON:  We have a standard requirement for an alcohol content statement.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  What is the standard requirement?

MR. BACON:  I think for most, for a 12 ounce bottle, I think it would be not to exceed two millimeters in size.  Our alcohol content statements are actually directed to make them as small as possible.  And that is a long standing policy.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Make it as small as possible?

MR. BACON:  Yes.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Why?

MR. BACON:  It’s a long standing policy that beer and malt beverages are not sold on account of their alcohol content.  The beer is beverage moderation and therefore the alcohol content should not be emphasized.  And in fact, the FAA Act directly prohibits the statement of alcohol content on malt beverages.  And that was overturned in a Supreme Court case about 15 years ago.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And the holding in that Supreme Court case said what?

MR. BACON:  The holding said that we could not prohibit, let me think a minute.  The holding, the courts had—

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.

MR. PEIRCE:  It was the first amendment issue was the court essence of that ruling that said the federal government could not prohibit it.  It was brought by Adolph Coors and Company.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Is there a reason that, at least on some of the products, it never says alcohol.  It says “alc.”  Doesn’t really even say the word “alcohol”.  Is there a reason for that?

MR. BACON:  These have been long standard abbreviations for the term “alcohol”.  And there are a number of different ways in which that may be expressed, but we do permit the use of “alc/vol” and some other means. 

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is your agency referred to as “alc” or are you called the Alcohol Beverage Control Agency?
MR. BACON:  We are the Alcohol and Tobacco Tax and Trade Bureau.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Does everybody know what an alc is out in the real world?  I just, kind of wondering if we’re getting people to understand what is in the content and labeling if it’s your agency’s primary function.  I mean, how does everyone know?  You might know it.  You deal with it every day.  But, if I’m heading to Shafter, California, how do I tell somebody that it’s got alc in it?  

MR. BACON:  I would say and look at your nearest wine bottle, because that’s what it’s going to say.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Alc, as well?

MR. BACON:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  But wine bottles look like a wine bottle, right?  It doesn’t look like this, right?

MR. BACON:  Probably not.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, go ahead.

MR. BACON:  Probably not.  We received 16,000 comments on our proposal and they came from all segments of society, consumers, retailers, producers, trade associations, public interest organizations, flavor manufacturers, members of Congress, and state governments.  Under the Administrative Procedures Act, we are required to make a decision based on the public record.  We have to consider all of the information in front of us.  We have to consider all of the information.  We have to look at the economic impacts, and the effect that the proposed rule or the adopted rule would have on entities involved.  We are required to look at these facts, make these considerations.  We are not required to select the least burdensome option.  However, we are required to look at and consider all of the information.  And I believe, and this is one of the cases in which we were really pushed to the full court press to take all of these factors into consideration.  

TTB has never considered prohibiting the use of flavored alcohol in beer or malt beverages at a point of less than 0.5 percent alcohol by volume.  That was not on the table and that is certainly consistent with our past policy and also would be consistent with one of the proposals in our notice which was to limit the alcohol, the added alcohol content to 0.5 percent.  As I said, we never considered going to a zero percent tolerance or anything like that.  Flavors are used.  Flavors do contain alcohol.  So that was not ever under consideration.  

Our comments, the comments that we received indicated that there would be costs to the industry to comply.  While we proposed a 0.5 percent rule, we also suggested an option of a majority fermented alcohol rule.  That is, we also suggested one way around this would be to permit beer or malt beverages to have 51 percent fermented alcohol and up to 49 percent added flavor alcohol.  This was a secondary proposal suggested by Treasury and put in that.  

The comments indicated that either one of these proposals would have costs to the industry--research and development of new products, marketing of products, development of flavor methods.  There would also be substantial cost in equipment to basically provide the methods for stripping the content, and stripping the flavors from beer that is used when they make the flavored malt beverage.  That there would be substantial compliance costs no matter which of these two options we adopted.  However, the comments very strongly suggested that there would be much more additional, much more additional cost and disruption to the industry if we adopted a 0.5 percent rule.  Many commentors indicated that they could in time comply with the so-called majority rule if they were given time to develop products and put this into production.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  And what would that time frame be?

MR. BACON:  We received a number of time frames.  Many of them centered, many of the ones I think we considered realistically were in the vicinity of one to two years.  We also had comments from some of our domestic industry that they could do it in 30 days.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, and when was the, when did that clock start, so I can see how many times the one and two years rolled over.

MR. BACON:  Well, we issued the proposal in March of 2004.  We adopted the proposal in January of 2005 with a one year time period to comply after that time.  We also realized that at the time we issued the proposal, we were giving notice that there would be a change in production, so that if we believed that two years was a sufficient time, we also believed that the industry would be busy and looking at this very hard the minute we published to the proposal.  But, we did go with the one-year implementation date.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And where are we on that?

MR. BACON:  The final rule became effective this past January.  We received comments from the flavor industry saying that they could not produce a flavored malt beverage with a taste profile similar to the malt beverages in use at that time with only a 0.5 alcohol contribution from the flavors.  And I also mentioned that the alcohol is an excellent means to provide flavors to a product.  It’s not that the alcohol is added specifically for this purpose, but it is a typical flavor method of manufacture to use flavors.  But, those comments indicated there would be actual technical problems to comply with a 0.5 percent standard.  

Another thread we received from many consumers and from some portions of the industry was that why was there any need to comply or to change the existing rule.  And that is it was up to us to provide some preponderance of evidence that there was a need to change the rule.  And that would be in regard to the alcohol content or any other of the proposals that we came up with at that time.  And the basic consumer comment, and there were thousands, basically said we like this product.  We enjoy it.  We don’t see any reason for the government to be involved in its formulation or to require it to be changed.  Now that was a very significant thread in the comments.  
One other factor in the comments was we saw a great divide in the industry.  And the purveyors of the so-called traditional beer, kind of were favoring the 0.5 percent rule, while the newer manufacturers and some of the foreign interests and obviously the FMB producers wanted the more relaxed rule than the majority standard.  And in looking at this we really recognized that there was a very significant competitive war going on through the rulemaking process.  This became quite clear looking at the comments, say from our domestic industry, saying everything is fine.  Adopt a tighter rule.  We can comply tomorrow.  And looking at people who actually produce this product in volume saying they could not do that.  
We made a decision during 2004 at the end of the comment period, and we made the decision not to adopt the 0.5 standard but, to adopt the majority standard requiring 51 percent fermented volume, 49 percent, maximum 49 percent flavor alcohol.  There are a number of factors for this, but I believe the basic factor came down to we could not provide a justification for adopting the stricter rule that simply was not made looking at the rulemaking record of all the comments we received, all of the information going into this saying there would be a tremendous disruption to the industry at a great cost if we adopted the tighter rule, whereas there did not appear to be significant benefits or a significant plus in adopting 0.5 percent standard.  

So, this is again, looking at the total rulemaking record, it’s based on the Administrative Procedures Act involving information.  We adopted that rule in January of 2004, effective January, 2005.  It does require, as I mentioned also, the alcohol content be displayed in flavored malt beverages and it further clarifies our position on what you may say on the statement, on the label, that is, you may not liken this to a distilled spirits product.  You cannot use a distilled spirits reference.  You can’t make, draw that analogy between a beer or a malt beverage and a distilled spirits product.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  That your testimony?

MR. BACON:  That’s my testimony.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Just a couple more questions.  Let’s go back to the flavoring issue.  Tell me what a flavor is so I can better understand.

MR. BACON:  A flavor, take a lemon flavoring.  That would be conveyed into, that would be made as a non-beverage product, and it would be some type of actually taking lemons and using an alcohol medium to extract the flavor and making a non-beverage flavoring product.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And in the flavoring when it gets into the FMB, how does that work?  These are alcohol flavors or how does it, how do those two combine?
MR. BACON:  Well, they’re flavors with an alcohol median to transmit that flavor.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And you mentioned that the, of the 114 products that you, was it surveyed or tested?  What was that mix?  What did that look like in terms of these FMBs?  Did you look at FMBs?

MR. BACON:  These were flavored malt beverage products.  These are the products that we’re, I think, the products that we’re concerned about and looking at.  The things like the Bacardi and the Schmirnoff Ice and even Zima and many of those products.  We did not look at traditional beers and we did not look at flavored beers, things that have a beer, malt beverage character.  We were not looking at those things.  We were looking at these products which derive all of their flavoring from the added flavors. 
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let me ask a question.  You mention that your, the agency, the TTB, is primarily looked at, if you will, the content, the label, what should be stated for consumers to look at.  You didn’t look at the actual packaging, is that correct, the actual look and feel of the particular FMB or product?  That correct?
MR. BACON:  Well, we will look at the packaging, however, we have a label approval process.  And obviously that focus is on the label.  We will look at the packaging to determine if it is misleading as a whole in its entirety.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, so you will look at it.  Then have you looked at it and what are your conclusions?

MR. BACON:  Well, we’ve looked at these.  Obviously we classify these products as beer or malt beverages under the Federal Alcohol Administration Act.  For example, the packages in front of your are very traditional beer or brewery packages.  So, those packages do not raise any question.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Do you think that the regulations that you’ve laid out thus far have brought clarity at this point to the law, or has it caused more confusion in the marketplace?  What would be your viewpoint on that?

MR. BACON:  Well, we have brought clarity, obviously, to the manufacture of these products.  We have made a determination as to the limits on alcohol contribution.  We have also required that they be labeled as a malt beverage, that they have alcohol content, that they pass those tests under the Federal Alcohol Administration Act saying they’re a malt beverage.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, and the categories that you currently have would be what at the federal level?

MR. BACON:  Under the Federal Alcohol Administration Act they would be distilled spirits, wine, and malt beverages.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Three?

MR. BACON:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Have you ever considered creating a fourth category of alcohol beverages?  I guess that would be, it was my interest, it’s piqued my interest in California at this point in time.  I mean, why not a fourth category?

MR. BACON:  That would be a statutory amendment to the Federal Alcohol Administration Act.  I think, yes, perhaps off the record or what not, yes, we’ve considered that might be a nice idea.  But, it would require a statutory change.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.  Is there anything that prevents California from creating that sort of category?

MR. BACON:  No, certainly not.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay. Do you believe that just from your vantage point, reading through the record that these particular FMBs are marketed toward underage drinkers?

MR. BACON:  That’s a subjective question, I will admit.  Personally, I don’t believe they are.  Personally, I don’t believe they are.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  What leads you to that conclusion?

MR. BACON:  Talking to young people.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  In your record making process as you, rule making process, as you reviewed the record and made a decision based on the record, what would be the population I just mentioned in terms of commenting on these types of changes?  I imagine some high schoolers in looking through the rule making process at the federal government and figuring out a way to add their comments.  But, you’re making a personal observation of your own view of maybe underage drinkers, teenagers, etcetera, and then there’s the record that you read for the factual decisions.  And is there a disconnect there or the voices that could be heard, not heard in that rule making process?

MR. BACON:  I think you’re asking two different questions here, because—

SENATOR FLOREZ:  different answers.

MR. BACON:  --the question we’re looking at is what are these products?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.

MR. BACON:  And that is a separate question from how are they marketed, who are they marketed to.  I mean, we can assure that these products are beer or a malt beverages, or if we decide they’re not, they’re something else.  We can assure that.  We can assure that they’re properly produced, properly labeled, and so forth.  We can look at advertising and marketing if we think it’s misleading we will take action with the advertiser to correct it, to stop it, and so forth.  But, again, the marketing of these products is a separate question from the production.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I don’t know where to begin with that.  The production is the actual in many cases, physical container which some, one of these liquids is put, and in many cases we have Jello shots, which is another issue.  I guess it’s a liquid, but then put in a refrigerator.  How it’s produced, how it’s manufactured in many cases, in your mind, can that be somehow distinct from the marketing itself?  I mean, do you think that somebody made this can for a reason?
MR. BACON:  Oh, yes, I do.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  What would be that reason?

MR. BACON:   Well, the can you’re holding I believe, is made to simulate a energy drink.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is that part of the, wouldn’t that be part and parcel of the manufacturing and the marketing?

MR. BACON:  Well, that, again, I am not prepared to testify on the energy drink category, but that is an area that we are actively exploring.  We have taken a number of instances with manufacturers of that kind of product.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Gotcha.  Alright.  Mr. Bacon, thank you so much.  You’ve been very enlightening.  Anybody have any questions?  Alright.  Let’s go to the ABC.  Mr. Jolly, thanks for joining us.  I do have quite a few questions, and do you have a prepared testimony?
MR. JERRY JOLLY:  Yes. 
SENATOR FLOREZ:  And also with you is John Peirce, Chief Counsel.  Is that correct?

MR. JOHN PEIRCE:  That’s correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Alcoholic Beverage Control, and Dennis Clear, the Assistant Director, Alcoholic Beverage Control.  Is that?

UNIDENTIFIED:  He’s in the audience.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Where would he be, just so I know?  There he is.  Okay.  Alright.  Well, thank you for joining us.  I do know that you’re going to make a presentation.  I have a few questions, so why don’t we do that and then we’ll go from there.

MR. JOLLY:  Okay, well, first of all, good morning.  And on behalf of the Schwarzenegger Administration and the Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control, I want to thank Chairman Florez and members of this committee for giving me the opportunity to be here today.  As you stated, also present today is our chief counsel, John Peirce, administrative assistant director, Mr. Clear, and other members of our staff.  They’ll be here to answer any questions the committee may have regarding flavored malt beverages.

The Department is aware the issues relating to flavored malt beverages are many and you’ll hear testimony today from government regulatory agencies, alcohol policy groups, and industry members, and that is exactly what Governor Schwarzenegger felt was necessary when he vetoed AB 417.
Last year Governor Schwarzenegger vetoed AB 417 to allow for a full policy debate on this issue.  His veto message stated, “This bill will codify current law and practice to treat flavored malt beverages as malt beverage product consistent with federal standards of identity, which 49 out of 50 states presently follow.  I am taking this action to allow a full discussion of the issues surrounding flavored malt beverages, not to suggest the state’s regulatory administration of flavored malt beverages is flawed.  I encourage all interested parties particularly health professionals, law enforcement, and producers of flavored malt beverages to use this opportunity for public debate and serious consideration of policy issues surrounding this beverage.”  

Senator Florez and members of this committee, these hearings begin the debate on flavored malt beverages and how they should be treated and classified in California.  The Department will participate and provide information for any policy debate before the Legislature regarding these products.  Chief Counsel John Peirce now will discuss the legal issues related to flavored malt beverages.  

MR. PEIRCE:  Good morning, Chairman Florez—
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Before you start, just let me ask a basic fundamental question.  I know we have quite a few young people out here, as well, but the ABC in this issue is in charge of what?

MR. PEIRCE:  The Department is charged with regulating the production, the distribution, and the sale of all alcohol beverage products, including preventing the sale of alcoholic beverages to persons under the age of 21 years of age.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  You guys are the experts out there making sure that what is being sold is in essence being sold to the right people at the right place and —

MR. PEIRCE:  By people who have the proper licenses.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  By people that have proper licenses.  Okay.  Let me as you guys a question.  You guys are ABC.  Which one’s an alcoholic drink, and which one’s, just pick a hand, which one’s the alcoholic, which one is a, which one’s the alcohol, which one’s an energy drink.  You guys are the ABC, so just give me your best shot.

MR. PEIRCE:  The one that’s labeled with alcoholic content.  (LAUGHTER) 

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Good answer.  But, if you’re like, you know, if you’re at a convenience store out in rural California and you’re putting these up, and I mean, how do I, how do I know?  Convenience store.  You’re out there.  You’re putting these up.

MR. PEIRCE:  That’s a legitimate question.  And—

SENATOR FLOREZ:  You want to give me your shot?  Which one is which?

MR. PEIRCE:  Heaven’s no.  I’m sure I’d be wrong.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, so that’s scaring me.  You’re the ABC.  And you’re telling me that—

MR. PEIRCE:  You can’t tell without reading the label.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

MR. PEIRCE:  And I will say also that we’re involved currently with another product that’s trying to come into California that is currently an energy drink popular with young people that is seeking to produce and market a flavored malt beverage very similar in appearance and at this point we have denied their label to ship into the state.  So, I mean these are –
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Why have you denied that label?

MR. PEIRCE:  Because of the confusion and the potential appeal to young people.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Alright.  Go ahead.

MR. PEIRCE:  As Mr. Bacon indicated, flavored malt beverages have historically been permitted with flavorings deriving some of their, or containing some alcohol content.  Historically these have been the flavored malt beverage, or the flavored beers being sold at holiday seasons and at other times throughout the year, but from a technical point of view, there’s no distinction about the alcohol content between them.  And the flavored malt beverages you have on your table became somewhat of a major player in the industry starting in the ‘90s and more so in the last five or six years.  

California definitions are such that we only have four different categories.  The basic categorization that something is an alcoholic beverage or is not.  It’s not fit for consumption.  That it’s a beer.  We don’t recognize malt beverage or flavored malt beverage or anything else as a specific category.  They are all under the umbrella defined as beer.  The second category is wine.  And the third category is distilled spirits.  This informational hearing asks the question, are these flavored malt beverages beer or distilled spirits?  There are several answers to that question, one of which is they fall neatly into none of the categories.  They are none of the above.  And that’s certainly an argument that could be made by some and I suspect may be.  
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is that your, is that ABC's opinion?  That differs significantly from--

MR. PEIRCE:  No, no.  The Department has historically treated flavored malt beverage products whether it’s the flavored beers of long standing, or the flavored malt beverages as beer and we are currently defending that determination before the First District Court of Appeal on a writ of mandamus that have been petitioned for by several people in the audience and others.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

MR. PEIRCE:  But, I would suggest that they don’t neatly fit into a single category—

SENATOR FLOREZ:  When you say historically, that means beyond Republican and Democratic administrations?  This is the way the ABC is operated.  Period.  Correct?
MR. PEIRCE:  Absolutely.  And this isn’t the only product that falls within that category, because if you look at the definition of distilled spirits which the petitioners in the lawsuit rely upon, it talks about the well-known distilled spirits including all dilutions and mixtures thereof, and they are asserting that that’s exactly what it means, but it obviously doesn’t, because if you look at wine, the definition of wine clearly calls for the addition of grape brandy or allows the addition of grape brandy, a distilled spirits, and treats it still as a wine product.  Similarly, there is a question as to whether or not what is being added is a distilled spirits or a non-beverage product. 

These are some of the things that we have raised in our answer.  I believe it’s also been provided for the audience.  I don’t want to go into the technical, legal details.  Suffice it to say that the crux of our argument is twofold.  One, we believe that it’s not clear and that we have exercised discretion in a legitimate way to continue to treat these as beer, and that the appropriate venue for having this discussion is where we are here today, not before the courts.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Well, it’s not, but you’re in front of the Legislature and you’ve hit a key point.  You mentioned the word, and you used the word “discretion”, and it’s kind of a battle between what we have going right now with our California Lottery.  This committee itself in terms of how much discretion is out there.  And I guess the question I would have for you is that do you really believe that this decision is up for administrative interpretation?  Do you believe that the law is so unclear as you can make a decision as to what is a distilled spirit, and what isn’t?  The law seems pretty clear just from my reading of it of what a distilled spirit is.  The cases seem very clear.  The Attorney General makes a pretty cogent argument in terms of a distilled spirit is a distilled spirit.  I go back and look at what the Legislature has said very clearly, and you pointed to a nuance that maybe we ought to look at, but, I guess the fundamental question I have is do you believe it is up to you to make a administrative interpretation of this, period?

MR. PEIRCE:   The way the statutes are currently drafted, yes.  I do not believe it is as clear as the petitioners argue.  And I believe we have exercised that discretion validly.  If I believed otherwise—
SENATOR FLOREZ:  You missed my question.  Do you believe you have the discretion?  That’s my question.

MR. PEIRCE:  Yes, if the statute were so clear, I would have recommended to the director and to others that’s what we do.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, great.  That’s why we’re in the Legislature, because we do that for you.  Correct?

MR. PEIRCE:  Exactly.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, just want to make sure.

MR. PEIRCE:  And in point of fact, there’s been discussion about, you’ve mentioned yourself a fourth categorization.  Mr. Bacon mentioned the 49 of the 50 states.  That’s precisely what Maine has done by creating a new category, a low alcohol spirits product.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is that the reason that you, at least in the brief that I read, I guess ABC says FMBs do not fit neatly into either definition of distilled spirits or beer in current California law.  

MR. PEIRCE:  Correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is that the position that you—

MR. PEIRCE:  Absolutely.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So you want, you were probably, the Legislature would creating a fourth category would be something that—

MR. PEIRCE:  If the Legislature created a fourth category or if the Legislature made a clarification of the existing statutes as to these products and others falling to within a particular category, one or the other, we would have no problem enforcing that.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, go ahead.  I’m sorry I interrupted you.

MR. PEIRCE:  I think the last thing I just wanted to indicate was a little bit of idea of what the implications of a classification are and from our point of view and from the Department’s authority, it’s not an issue of taxation.  We are not the taxing agency.  And I point out, we point out in the brief, the Board of Equalization is not being sued in the writ of mandamus currently before the First DCA, either.  What we have the authority over is what kind of license you hold to produce it, what kind of license you hold to distribute it, and what kind of license you hold to retail it to consumers.  

There’s another, and I have to say this just as a prosecutor, there’s an enforcement issue that are difficult for us, because if you look at those labels, those that aren’t energy drinks before you that are indeed, flavored malt beverages, they will be labeled flavored malt beverages, because that’s what the federal regulations require or how they’re required to be labeled by TTB.  And TTB is the one who collects the formulations and has this proprietary information submitted to them by the manufacturers which we don’t have access to.  We don’t have the chemical laboratories or even, I’m not sure, I have tried to find out whether chemical laboratories can, indeed, discern where the alcohol content in a particular product comes from whether it comes from the malting process, from the flavoring process, or others.  TTB obviously knows when they get the formulation and if they will take a look at it, but how do we prove that it’s one category or the other if we don’t have the chemical analysis and formulation.  If we can’t tell from the label.  It’s an enormously difficult problem.  And then finally for us to make an administrative decision changing 50 years or more of treatment by California regulators, not just the Department, but its predecessors, I’m concerned about potential liability of such a unprecedented, really, determination by an administrative agency.  
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let me explore it, just one concept that I think you’ve mentioned.  I mentioned a couple of times during the hearing and that is what I’m interested in particularly in this particular issue is the creation of this fourth category.  It’s not to say that the taxing issue isn’t important, because I think the taxing issue comes under a fourth category.  It’s a different type of taxing and it’s in many cases not targeted in any certain direction.  But, we just recognize these as different products, period.  We don’t try to make the judgments that we’re somewhat making.  That’s one.  It also dictates the location.  It’s dictates location such as convenience stores, liquor stores, and other types of places where some of these products probably shouldn’t be on the shelf at all.  So I think it’s another issue that we’d like to explore.  

And I think the third, obviously, is the labeling and packaging issues which I think I asked the feds a minute ago, if I can term you so, at this point.  And they were really concerned about the actual content of the message on the particular product itself.  I’m as concerned with the manufacturing of cans that look like this.  You know, where no one, I can guarantee you, in my caucus, even Eddie Vincent couldn’t tell me which one is an alcoholic product, and which one is an energy drink, and he’s been chairman of this committee for quite awhile.  I couldn’t tell the difference. And so when we start to see these and particularly some of the neighborhoods I represent and it’s hard for kids to distinguish which is which, you know, part of our job is to make a judgment on responsible drinking and to make sure that these aren’t marketed in a way that targets certain types of youth and certain types of areas.  But it is part and parcel of this new category and so we’d like to continue that dialogue with you if, indeed, my reading of the briefs thus far tells me that we are in a void.  I maybe read it a little clearer.  I mean, I tend to look at the Attorney General’s arguments and I look at the advocates’ arguments and say if it’s a drop of distilled in a bottle, it’s a distilled.  It’s real clear.  But, I think we are obviously competing with the open marketplace and people who do a lot of different things with these types of products.  And that’s the thing that I’m kind of interested in, the broad picture.  That’s why the title of this hearing isn’t taxation or no taxation.  The title of this hearing is are we going to really categorize it as beer or something else.  And if that something else is something different, that controls a whole host of other issues about the way it’s sold, where it’s sold, how much it’s sold in terms of the taxation issue and a whole other round.  Would you agree that that’s something that we have to get some closure on?
MR. PEIRCE:  Well, let me, I heard three questions or comments that I’d like to respond to, and if I haven’t adequately responded, please ask again.  First of all, reiterating what I said before in terms of a drop of distilled spirits makes it a drop of distilled spirits, you at the very least have to put in the caveat unless it’s wine.  So it’s not the distilled spirits from a policy point of view that appears to be what’s important about this.  The Department has no problem with creating a fourth categorization.  But, what that would require then, is because it’s not within one of the existing ones, we will need to have as part of that a type 20 beer and wine license.  What can they sell?  Can they sell this fourth category?  A type 21 general license—can they sell this type, you know.  Who has the privileges?  Just changing or adding a fourth categorization is insufficient.  You’ve got to do all that’s implied with such a change.  

The other issue in terms of the packaging and the marketing I certainly hear and understand the concerns.  I mentioned earlier that the Supreme Court in the Coors case and in some of these things has upheld the First Amendment concerns for commercial free speech.  And I am confident that if there was some sort of packaging mandate that came out either from the federal government or from the State of California, such a mandate is likely to be challenged in the court as a violation of their First Amendment rights.  So we have to be prepared for that.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.  Well, I think that’s, and everything that you’ve mentioned, we know that we have a much bigger battle in terms of trying to figure out, you know, how to make all of this work in a much larger way.  I don’t think it’s as simple as saying let’s change the taxation.  I think these are products that are clearly a new category, something that we have to think about.  The enforcement, marketing, the licensing—it’s much larger than that.  And it really is about packaging and Senator Romero just joined us.  Senator, I keep pointing to these two cans and asking the test, which one’s alcohol, which one isn’t, and I think our ABC said whatever one says alcohol.  And I believe 8 point or something like that on one of these cans.  And I think that’s the issue as we begin the free speech.  I don’t know if we should, in essence, go beyond what the feds are saying, but I’m not sure that, I mean, these are all very colorful and I’m sure that they all look enticing to a certain population.  And we’re going to hear from them in a little bit.  

But, you know, I'm not sure what a free speech argument is if we make an alcoholic drink cover red and everybody knows what it is.  And in the years of self scan where I can now go to my supermarket and in essence, somewhat bypass, you know, someone who’s going to card me, unless it comes up on the ringer and these types of things.  I mean, these are real issues that we have to discuss in a very serious way.  But I think it gets us to recognizing that these are different products in many cases.  So we’d like to continue that dialogue with the ABC, as well.
MR. JOLLY:  Senator Florez?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.

MR. JOLLY:  The one thing I’d like to mention also is that you mention the young people here—we’re concerned and we’re taking a more aggressive approach on some of these labeling issues like John had mentioned.  But, also you know, we have worked with the young people as far as making sure that the access to underage drinking is limited and you know, the enforcement component on this is important.  And I just think it needs to be said that these products are out there and we recognize that young people drink these products.  But, it’s our job to work with the young people and also be very aggressive.  And I can assure you that over the last couple of years, we’ve been very aggressive with sales to underage minors.  And this is part of the process is working with them and educating them regarding flavored malt beverages.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let me take you up on that, if I could, because I think that’s the only way we can measure that at least here in the Legislature because we’re not out with your agency every single day is to simply ask has there been more or less violations in terms of the underage bust, if you will, of these types of products.  Has there?  If that’s the case, then you’re saying that we're putting an emphasis on there has there actually been an increase in the types of violations of these types of products?  Have you seen that in your statistics? 
MR. JOLLY:  You know, what we did is for a period of time, what we did is we kept track of the types of alcoholic beverages was being purchased by people under 21.  Were they male?  Female?  In about three percent of the cases involved flavored malt beverages.  But, the overwhelming alcohol of choice for young people was beer. 
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I don’t think you answered my question.  So I guess the question I have is has there been an increase in the amount of violation of these types of products.  I mean, you mentioned about three percent of this is the problem, but you’re not kind of telling me whether or not there’s been a focus, if you will, at the ground level on these types of products.  That’s the question.

MR. JOLLY:  No, I understand the question.  And the way we regulate this is we use sting programs throughout the state.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, what has that produced?

MR. JOLLY:  That has produced a 60 percent increase in accusations over the last year.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  On these products?

MR. JOLLY:  Not on these products.  On sales to minors.  And we’ve also shown a reduction in sales attempts to minors by four percent.  We’ve been very aggressive, but we don’t isolate our enforcement efforts to flavored malt beverages.  We isolate it to sale of any alcoholic beverages to minors.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, do you believe these—let’s just start with the basic questions.  These FMBs—are these in your mind, marketed towards underage drinkers?  Let’s just get to the threshhold question.  Do you believe these are, I mean, clearly, the feds told us he didn’t believe they were.  What’s the California ABC's position?

MR. JOLLY:  We’ve reviewed the American Medical Association’s survey and I think that survey indicated that flavored malt beverages, that they were the alcohol of choice for young females.  And I can just tell you as far as our enforcement efforts, that these do not stand out any more than beer or distilled spirits as far as our contact with young people.  But I think you have some young people in the audience and I think they’re the best individuals to talk to as far as—
SENATOR FLOREZ:  I gotcha, but you’re the enforcement hammer.  And so let me just, you know, I’m asking you—they don’t have the ability to enforce.  You have the ability to enforce.  Our job is to make sure you are enforcing, in essence.  I mean, we’re the Legislative branch that creates some sort of framework for which you operate.  Again, just your opinion would be fine for me.  You’re the head of the ABC.  Do you believe these products are geared towards or marketed to underage drinkers?  It’s a very straightforward question.
UNIDENTIFIED:  Oh, no, it’s a straightforward question.  The only thing is I don’t have an answer for you, because I think one of the things that I hope is we’re able to—

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And would that reflect down, then, all the way to the ground level that these are not as important to look at in terms of the enforcement mechanisms than any other product out there?

MR. JOLLY:  No—

SENATOR FLOREZ:  These are sold, you know, let me see which one is alcohol.  This one.  These are sold because of, it’s a malt—these are not, these are sold in convenience stores, correct?

MR. JOLLY:  They’re sold in any outlet that has a license—

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Anyone that has a beer and wine license, correct?  And there are a lot more of those than alcohol, liquor types of establishments.

MR. JOLLY:  There’s more beer and wine establishments.

SENATOR FLOREZ:   Right.  So you got a much tougher job with these, this product.

MR. JOLLY:  I’m just saying we have a tough time with underage drinkers, period.  It is the drug of choice.  It is, of our young people.  And we vigorously enforce it.  Our partnerships with Friday Night Live, our partnerships with the young people and what we have done over the last two years is increased our presence, but when you ask me are these products geared just for young people, I think that’s the policy discussion we’re going to have today and there are relatively new.  They’ve only been out on the market for 10 years.  And the letter I wrote TTB is exactly that.  We wanted a clarification on this.  

So if you’re asking my personal opinion, my personal opinion, you know, I don’t, you know, have any interest in flavored malt beverages as far as it impacts me personally.  But as the director of the Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control, I’m concerned with any product that is geared to make young people drink alcoholic beverages.  And if the policy discussion and the facts are determined that they do, then I’d have a different opinion of them.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And so your opinion is?  (LAUGHTER) 

MR. JOLLY:  My opinion is just what I stated, is that these products haven’t been proven as far as on the enforcement level to be any more attractive to young people than beer.  In fact, beer is by far more attractive than flavored malt beverages.  Our investigators seize—you look at our evidence locker and you’ll see what the young people are purchasing.  But, are these marketed and are they advertised and are they geared as an entry level alcoholic beverage to young people?  Those are questions I think that, I don’t think anyone has the answers to.  But, I would be, I think those are the things I want to hear about in the Legislature and if it’s determined they are, then we should, we should treat them differently.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Fair enough.  Let’s go on—anything else from the ABC?  Senator Romero, you have a question?  Senator Soto?  Senator Vincent?

SENATOR ROMERO:  Senator Florez, if I can just ask—in terms of the cost, average cost of one of those cans, what is the cost?  Let’s say compared to a can of beer?

SENATOR ROMERO:  Senator Florez?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I’m sorry.

SENATOR ROMERO:  I haven’t had any of that, the red stuff.  Although I came from a prison bond hearing.  I think maybe we might need one.  But, what is the average cost of one of these cans as opposed to an average cost for a beer?

MR. JOLLY:  Senator Romero, I’m not sure what the cost difference is, but we can get that answer for you.  

SENATOR ROMERO:  (INAUDIBLE) 
MR. JOLLY:  Right.

SENATOR ROMERO:  In terms of marketing, especially.  Does anybody know?  Does anybody?

SENATOR SOTO:  I do, but.

SENATOR ROMERO:  Well, maybe you can get back to me.

MR. JOLLY:  Yes, I’ll definitely get back to you.  

UNIDENTIFIED:  (INAUDIBLE)  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, is there anything else the ABC would, would like to add?  
MR. JOLLY:  No, but we’ll be here for questions.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you very much.  Okay, let’s go on to the BOE, Board of Equalization.  Thank you for being here. 

MS. MARGARET SHEDD:  Mr. Chairman and members, my name is Margaret Shedd.  I’m the legislative counsel with the Board of Equalization.  I have with me Dave Hayes, who’s chief of our Research and Statistics section, and he will talk about the taxes if it was classified as a distilled spirits.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let me ask just a threshold question right from the beginning.  You’re the BOE.

MS. SHEDD:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Why don’t you just tax it?  What’s the point?  Why don’t you guys just do that?  Do you need authorization from the Legislature or the Governor to do that? 

MS. SHEDD:  Well, we believe we do.  Yes, I—

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Do you?

MS. SHEDD:  Or ABC.  We—let me start from the top here.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.  But that’s the question I want to get to at the end.

MS. SHEDD:  Okay, and I will.  I passed out this chart and it shows that the Board of Equalization administers over 20 tax and fee programs that bring in $45 billion.  These amount to 35 percent of the state’s revenue.  By far, the largest sale program that we administer is the sales and use tax which is $38 billion and it’s about 86 percent of our revenue.

Halfway down the chart on the first page you’ll see that the Board also does administer the alcoholic beverage program.  And that assessment and collection function is bestowed upon us under the California Constitution.  The revenues total about $300 million.  It’s less than one percent of our total revenues collected.  And they’re about 3,900 registrants under this program.  Under the Constitution and the law, the Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control has the exclusive authority to issue liquor licenses.  And under the statutory law, the Revenue and Taxation Code, that issuing of the licenses automatically registers them with us as a taxpayer.  We do not go out and independently register taxpayers.  So we rely on the classification by the ABC Board for the taxes that they pay.  
The Board of Equalization’s duty with respect to taxation of alcoholic beverages is really a ministerial function.  We have no expertise in science or chemistry.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  I gotcha.  You’re an attorney?

MS. SHEDD:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Where in the statute does the ABC have the authority to direct you how to classify a product for taxation?  Where do you see that that what you just mentioned?  Where does the ABC have the ability to tell the BOE how it can tax something and how it, or how it shouldn’t tax something?

MS. SHEDD:  When they issue a license—

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is that in practice or is that in statute?

MS. SHEDD:  That’s in statute.  It’s in the Revenue and Taxation Code.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  It is?  Can you produce that for us?  I’d like to read that.

MS. SHEDD:  Certainly.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Go ahead.

MS. SHEDD:  I now would like to turn it over to Dave Hayes.  I think you had a question—what would be the revenue gain if it was classified as a distilled spirit?

MR. DAVE HAYES:  Good morning.  The Board was asked to provide an estimate of the revenue gain to the state if flavored malt beverages were taxed as distilled spirits for other than beer.  Our research indicates that flavored malt beverages account for about 2.6 percent of the beer market.  In fiscal year 2003-04, reported taxable gallons of beer to the Board amounted to about 671 million gallons.  From this, we estimate that 17.4 million gallons were for flavored malt beverages.  We believe that there would be a couple of factors that would cause a decline in the consumption of flavored malt beverages if it was, if they were taxed as a distilled spirits.  The current rate of tax on beer is 20 cents per gallon.  The rate of tax on distilled spirits is $3.30 a gallon.  So we figure that a price increase of $3.10 a gallon would cause there to be less consumption of this.

However, the elasticity factors on alcohol are very small, so we don’t think that this would be a major decline somewhere in the neighborhood of three to four percent.  However, we do believe that a much larger factor in the decline of it is decreasing the places where it could be sold.  Obviously, if you could no longer purchase these in convenience stores where we believe most of this stuff is being purchased now, it changes the consumption level.

We believe that the above two factors would mean a decline in the consumption of flavored malt beverages to about 12.4 million gallons.  If we taxed those gallons as distilled spirits, the state would see an increase in excise tax revenues of $37.5 million.  It would also be an increase in sales and use tax revenues to the state of about $2 million, since the excise tax is part of the measure for the sales tax.  There would also be an increase to the Sales and Use Tax of about one million.  
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I think that is all we needed from the BOE.  Appreciate that.  Before you all leave, let me just ask one question while we have our federal person here, so I can get clear on this.  Wineries submit labels to you for approval, is that correct?  

MR. HAYES:  Yes, it is.  
SENATOR FLOREZ:  The wineries submit the labels and you guys approve that?  

MR. HAYES:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Does that same apply for beer labels?

MR. HAYES:  Yes, it does.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  How about FMBs?

MR. HAYES:  Yes, they are malt beverages.  They receive label approval, as well.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Then we’re going to have some work to do with you.  Very much appreciate that.  Just want make sure I got that down Senator Soto, yes.

SENATOR NELL SOTO:  I just have a very simple question.  Can you get just as drunk on one as you can on the other?

MR. HAYES:  Yes, you certainly can.  

SENATOR SOTO:  Which is the cheapest drunk, then?  (LAUGHTER)
MR. HAYES:  That’s a good question.  

SENATOR SOTO:  You have to think about that when you drink a lot.  
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you all for being with us.  Very much appreciate it.  Let’s have the Office of the Attorney General, Steve Gevercer.  Steve, thanks for joining us.  Good seeing you.
MR. STEVE GEVERCER:  You’re welcome.  Thank you for providing me my own panel.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  You got it.

MR. GEVERCER:  You invited me—

SENATOR FLOREZ:  We saw you brought Mr. Dressler with you, so that’s okay.

MR. GEVERCER:  Yes.  You invited me here to state the opinion of the Office of the Attorney General with respect to the current legal definition of beer and distilled spirits that are contained in our Business and Professions Code.  And my office has parsed the words of the applicable statues and we studied the case law interpreting those statutes and our opinion is an opinion that’s contained in the letter dated May 24th, 2005, to the Board of Equalization which I believe is in your packets.  

The opinion can be summarized as follows.  Number one, California’s definition of beer in Business and Professions Code Section 23006 does not include any beverages that mixes beer with distilled spirits.  And two, a product that includes beer in any amount or kind of distilled spirit or flavor from distilled spirits is a distilled spirit as defined in Business and Professions Code 23005.  My office believes that this opinion is a reasonable opinion, that it is accurate, and we stand by that opinion.  And I would point out to you that the Board of Equalization’s, in it’s tax annotation dated May 27th , 1997, came to that very same conclusion with respect to the definition of beer and distilled spirits based upon our current applicable statutes.

As you know, the statutory interpretation of beer and distilled spirits is currently at issue.  It’s pending in a petition for writ of mandate in the First District Court of Appeal.  That being the case, my office does not believe it would be appropriate for me to comment on the arguments taken for or against the interpretation so I’m going to decline to do so and get brought into a matter that is currently pending in the First District Court of Appeal, except to say we stand by our opinion.

I would like to also point out to the committee here that California is in no way bound by the federal definition of beer or distilled spirits.  Under the 21st Amendment, states have a significant authority to regulate the sale and distribution of alcoholic beverages within their borders.  As a matter of fact, this point was emphasized by the United States Alcohol and Tobacco Tax and Trade Bureau, the TTB, at the time it issued its 5149 standard on January 3rd, 2005.  I’m just going to give you a short excerpt of what they said when they issued their standard.  “We recognize that our adoption of the 5149 standard may mean that some standard states will adopt a standard that differs from the federal standard.  However, as many commentators noted, state requirements on alcohol beverage classification issues already vary from state to state.  We do not believe that the adoption of a different standard by some states will cause major problems to the beer industry.  In any case, it is beyond TTB’s authority to control what the states choose to do on this issue.”
They further went on to say that “individual states may take a different view of the classification and taxable status of these products and may reclassify FMBs as distilled spirits, perhaps even before the effective date of this final rule.”  I think that’s a significance to consider for this committee.  
While there may be competing views about the statutory interpretation of our B&P code, our definitions, there should be no dispute about the link between flavored malt beverages and the public’s health and safety.  And my office is quite concerned about the unique characteristics of flavored malt beverages.  We really believe that they are unique.  They are sweet, they are attractive to young people, especially young girls, according to the studies, and they are marketed either intentionally, recklessly, or even unintentionally depending on the circumstances and the product to persons least likely to behave in a mature, safe, and responsible manner.  The Attorney General believes the Legislature should consider this issue from a public safety point of view.  We do need to promote public policy which will reduce youth access to these products.

We believe this is a very extremely worthy policy issue for you to take up, and my office looks forward to working with all of you on this issue.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you very much.  Let me ask a question.  Not sure if you can answer it.  Has nothing to do with the case, even though your opinion is widely cited in the current case in terms of the Attorney General’s opinion on what the law says.  But, you know, we’ve been skating around and on this issue of a fourth category to get some clarity, to get some labeling types of issues completed, to get where it’s sold, how it’s sold and also to take care of the taxation issue.  Your thoughts on that?

MR. GEVERCER:  My thoughts are, number one, perhaps we should think about enforcing existing law.  Second—

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So you want us to pull it from all the convenience stores today?

MR. GEVERCER:  I think we should enforce existing law.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  It says here –

MR. GEVERCER:  I understand, but there are implications to that, licensing implications, as well.  And they are fairly significant.  If you are thinking about a fourth category, my office’s point of view would be what’s the link to public safety.  And I think we will evaluate any bill that creates a fourth category from that stand point.  That’s all I can really tell you without seeing the language.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  I think we would want to enlist the Attorney General’s help in helping the committee figure out what that might look like in terms of making sure we’re geared towards the reduction in teenage targeting, drinking, convenience, and cost.  

MR. GEVERCER:  We’d be honored to participate in doing that.  We do have the expertise in our office.  Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I see Senator Romero nodding, so I guess we’re probably going to be working together on that larger category.

MR. GEVERCER:  Thank you very much.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Thank you very much.  Okay, let’s go ahead.  If we could have the advocates for re-classification.  And this would be the time that if we have any of the students who’d like to come up, we’d like to start with you.  But we have Jim Mosher, Sharon O’Hara, Contessa Turner, Lynne Goodwin, Eduardo Gonzalez, and Fred Jones.  

MR. MOSHER:  Can we have assistance with the power point presentation?  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Whatever you guys want to do.  Now let me say if you are not on this panel and have traveled here, which I have asked some of our students to do from the Central Valley, I’d like you to come right after this, as well, so and please try to cover what you did not hear.  So let’s go ahead and start.  And I would like to start with some of our more youthful members.  So go ahead, anybody.  

MR. TONY GARCIA:  Okay, well, with my experience with the Youth Leadership Institute—

SENATOR FLOREZ:   And your name?

MR. GARCIA:  My name’s Tony Garcia, I’m sorry.  Tony Garcia from Fresno, California, and I’m with the Youth Leadership Institute.  With my experience with the Youth Leadership Institute and undergoing a campaign that dealt with underage drinking and alcohol abuse, I’ve learned a lot about alcopops and how teens have an access to them.  And how they have access to them and I found, we found like a really huge amount of alarming statistics, one of them being that the average age of a teen’s, a child’s first drink in Fresno is nine and a half.  And in the State of California it’s 13.1.  And during this campaign we underwent a project where we went around to Fresno high schools and mapped their distance from, we mapped liquor store licensees distance within a one mile radius of the high school, and we found that in one high school there were 30 liquor stores within a one mile radius that sold these kind of beverages.  

And so I feel that with a marking, labeling these as distilled spirits would dramatically reduce the amount of access that teens have to these products.  
SENATOR FLOREZ:  So what are you seeing out there among youth?  Popular?  Not popular?  These drinks.  We talk a lot about it in Sacramento as taxation, content, labeling, font point, you know.  In the reality, what are you seeing from your basis?

MR. GARCIA:  Well to answer your—just for the record, I just want to say that these products are extremely misleading.  I know you were asking that question earlier.  I mean, I’m sitting here and I really can’t tell the difference.  I don’t, as a teen that drinks, or sometimes drinks (LAUGHTER) 
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Want to strike that from the record?  (LAUGHTER)  Sergeant, rewind the tape there and we’ll start over.

MR. GARCIA:  As a youth that drinks energy drinks (LAUGHTER) I really can’t tell the difference.  And I just want to say that I feel that the alcohol industry does target youth through advertisement and product placement.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And what are the chief means of advertising when you say that, when they target youth.  Where are you seeing these types of ads in your everyday experience?

MR. GARCIA:  Television, billboards are everywhere in Fresno.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I see a lot of these during the 70’s Show.  And has this got on My Space yet, I’m wondering, you know?

MR. GARCIA:  Not that I’ve seen.  I really can’t say. 

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Thank you for your testimony.  Go ahead.

MS. TURNER:  Chairman Florez, members of the committee, my name is Contessa Turner.  I’m 17 years old.  I’m a student at Academy High School in Oakland.  I’m here because of a serious problem that my peers are facing.  An alcoholic product that without a doubt encourages underage drinking.  With EPIC (environmental prevention in communities), I have been conducting focus groups that ask my peers about alcopops.  I have learned how big of a problem underage drinking really is, and that my peers, especially high school girls drink alcopops on a regular basis.  They tell me the sweet, fruity flavor makes it easier to drink, it’s cheap so it makes it easier to buy.  And it’s also easier to buy from stores because alcopops are not considered a real alcohol and many adults or store clerks is willing to buy or sell the drinks to us minors, especially if we know them.  
A girl that participated in the focus group told me that they’re easier to steal because they’re not behind the counters.  Parents and teachers unknowingly allow my peers to have them, as well.  They look just like juice beverages or sodas and smell sweet.  I’ve heard that parents unknowingly have bought them thinking that they were just lemonade in the liquor store refrigerator.  Girls in my school say that the advertisements are cool.  They see them all over on the TV commercials and in the magazines, and they got popular music in the ads and they’re glamorous.  They show glamorous women and they promise popularity which is very popular among women.  Even the packaging is cute and cool.  And some girls even collect the bottles for their own interest.  

One thing that is really important to me is that the fact that the alcohol industry has deliberately done this in order to get more money from our younger people.  The problems are very serious.  For example, girls have said they have become vulnerable and have made choices that they wouldn’t have surrounding sex or starting fights.  For many girls out there who try alcopops, it’s harder to say no and make the positive choices that they would if they weren’t under the influence.  Thank you for your interest in considering alcopops.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Senator Romero.

SENATOR ROMERO:  Thank you for your testimony, again, too, for the previous student and for all of you for being here today.  Let me just ask this question, though.  Is there from your experience in talking with some of the teens that you’ve spoken with, do they know what they’re buying?  Do they know there’s alcohol in it?  

MS. TURNER:  Well, I'm not going to say names, a lot of the girls that I’ve interviewed or spoken with said that they usually drink based on pricing.  They said the cheaper, the better, would taste as good.  They don’t even know what alcopops was until I told them.
SENATOR ROMERO:  But, do they have a sense that this is alcohol? 

MS. TURNER:  Sometimes most of them don’t.  They just go based on taste.  And some of them do know that it’s alcoholic drink for the feeling of it.

SENATOR ROMERO:  And let me just ask again, too, I mean it’s certainly from your perspective in teens that you’ve spoken with, not supposed to be able to get it ‘til a certain age, 16, 17 years old.  How do they get it?  How do they get alcohol, whether it’s FMBs or any alcohol?  How do they get it?

MS. TURNER:  Well, specifically at my school we have four corner stores by our school.  And they go to the corner store and act familiar with the clerk and so the clerk say, I recognize your face and they just let them slide, and they’ll sell it to them without checking I.D.  
SENATOR ROMERO:  So it’s not checking I.D.  What other means?  Is that the easiest?

MS. TURNER:  They also find adults outside the store and ask them can you buy the liquor for me.  

SENATOR ROMERO:   Slip a couple of dollars or something like that?

MS. TURNER:   And they also steal them because it’s easier to get because it’s right in front of the door and it’s not in the watch of the store clerk.
SENATOR ROMERO:  Thank you.

JAMES:  I’m James from Hiram Johnson School.  I’d like to add a point to how teenagers get alcohol and smack.  Students making community change during that most teenagers get the alcohol from their brothers and sisters.  And the problem with that is that most adults don’t consider alcopops as alcohol.  Because I have a couple of those bottles in my refrigerator.  I could probably get one bottle and drink it in front of my parents and they won’t notice, because they consider it as soda.  

And then a problem with teenagers is that they don’t consider the use of alcohol as real.  They just drink it like soda and nobody care.  Then like at parties these things are really popular, because they taste good.  And you can get drunk off them while feeling the negative effects with taste.  And that would cause younger people to drink at a younger age and later on when they get older, they want more of a drunk feeling and move up to a more harder stuff.  I’m done.  (LAUGHTER) 
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you, all three.  

UNIDENTIFIED:  Would you like me to start.  Would you like ____.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  We have one more student.  

MARISOL:  Hi, my name is Marisol.  And I would like to add that—you asked about accessibility.  If alcopops were taxed as distilled spirits, it would be a lot harder, a lot harder for teens to get their hands on these drinks.  
SENATOR ROMERO:  Because they’re more expensive.

MARISOL:  Yeah, because they’re more expensive, but I believe there’s about 1,500 stores that in California that only have beer and wine licenses.  And it’s harder to get the liquor licenses.  So, the little stores around the corners of the different of the little towns, they won’t be selling these.  And that’s where they don’t card and that’s where they, it’s easier for them to get.  So it’ll decrease dramatically.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let me ask the two students that are here why you’re here.  And before the experts on the other side give us their opinions, what would you have the Legislature do?  What do you want us to do?

MARISOL:  Well, increasing the tax, or well taxing them as what they are, I mean that would help dramatically, so that’s what I want to see and that—

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

MS. TURNER:  I think a major problem and I’m speaking this for my self kind of.  I live in Oakland and there’s too many corner stores and liquor stores by our schools.  And I want people to enforce the checking I.D.s, the taxation.  It will make, it will not be glamorous to kids to buy them, because it’s very cheap.  And also, I feel that they really do target teenagers, because of the look they advertise them.  I know the girls, they like the bottles and so they’ll drink the alcohol just to collect the bottles.  So the look has a very big influence on underage drinking as well.  And that’s a big problem that I found in my focus groups that they like the bottles.  They show women, popularity, body conscious.  When you make alcohol that says zero carbs, you’re targeting girls, because they’re body conscious and that feeds into the women drinking alcopops.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Good point, good point.

MR. JAMES MOSHER:  I think you just heard the experts.  (LAUGHTER)
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, great.  Then you guys can sit down.  (LAUGHTER) Okay, let’s go ahead and hear from the rest of you.

MR. JAMES MOSHER:  Okay, Mr. Chairman.  First, my name is James F. Mosher.  I’m an attorney and I work for the Pacific Institute for Research and Evaluation.  I’ve conducted extensive studies both legal and social science on these products, the marketing, and legal classification under various grant programs.  And I think what we just heard from the young people couldn’t make the points better than any of the adults that you’ll hear from now or after us.  And that is that these beverages are designed for and marketed to young people, and I think it shows the, first of all, the duplicitous marketing that the alcohol industry is engaging in with these products, and I feel also that it demonstrates the dereliction of duty on the part of the regulators and how they handle them in such a technical way and without looking at the health and welfare issues that certainly the California  Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control is required to consider when they make their decisions.
But, I have a short Power Point presentation.  And I’m hoping there is someone that can work the computer.  The first point I want to make is that these products have nothing to do with beer in reality.  These are two ads, one of them is for a Smirnoff, they’re both for Smirnoff products.  One is a so-called flavored malt beverage or alcopop, the other one is a vodka.  You can’t tell they’re exactly the same.  The purpose of these alcopops as far as Smirnoff at least is concerned, is simply a brand extension.  Next slide, please.  Here is a, and the brand extension has nothing, again, to do with beer.  It has to do with the transition from soda pop to vodka.  They created these products because the vodka was increasingly becoming a drink associated with people my age.  The market that they needed to compete in was with beer which is the primary beverage of young people and they came up with these products in order to compete in that market, and to bridge the taste of soft drinks moving to the hard liquor.  
You don’t have to take my word for it.  This is an industry magazine.  Diageo rolled out Smirnoff Ice in the U.S. market.  It suddenly put the once stodgy Smirnoff name on the tips of millions of echo boomers tongues.  Echo boomers is a term referring to those born between 1977 and 1994 who are currently 12 to 29 years old.  There are many advantages to having these products marketed as beer as we’ve heard.  More stores sell them.  You can also get on network television with these products.  They’re very heavily marketed on network television when they came out in 2001-2002.  And incidentally, Smirnoff vodka has now had large increases in consumption among young adults.  So this brand extension strategy is working.  The distilled spirits industry is competing much more effectively with the beer industry.  
Well, here is what you’ve heard from the trade and tax bureau already.  I just want to emphasis one of the things that the representative stated, which is that the flavored malt beverages is really a misnomer, because it has nothing to do with malt beverages.  They exhibit little or no traditional beer or malt beverage character.  Brewers remove the color, bitterness, and taste that are generally associated with beer.  This leaves a base product to which brewers add various flavors which typically contain distilled spirits to achieve the desired taste profile.  What they do, literally, they take a vat of beer and they drain most of it.  They then take out the taste, color, alcohol, all the characteristics of beer, and as far as I can tell, that means they’re left with water.  And then they add the flavoring, the so-called flavorings which includes five percent alcohol and they make this hyper technical distinction between distilled spirits in the flavoring and distilled spirits.  It’s one that’s not recognized in California law.  I think the TTB representative said that the distilled spirits loses its identity when it’s put into these flavors.  Well, this is a technicality without meaning.  Perhaps it has meaning under federal law, but as you’ll see, I think if you look at California law it has no import under California law as the Attorney General’s representative stated.  
The alcopops industry itself agrees with this of the flavored malt beverage coalition who you will hear from later has stated, “Flavoring ingredients that are added to a malt beverage base to produce an flavored malt beverages need to be stronger because of the pronounced, and they use the word “orgonolectic” which means sensory qualities of the base itself.  What it means is you’ve got to cover up all aspects of the beer in order for these products to be successful.  These are not beer.  They are something different from beer and that is clear in terms of how they manufacture it.  
Why did they go through this?  Well, they go through this precisely to get the regulators to say it’s beer.  In other countries where we don’t have the same kind of regulatory schemes, Smirnoff does not go through this rigmarole of starting with beer and stripping everything out of it and adding flavors.  They simply start with the vodka and add the flavors to it, come up with the same product, and depending on what country you’re in, you’ll have different formulations in order to gain the regulatory advantage.  That’s what’s going on here.  It is a duplicitous, underhanded, and I believe deceptive practice that is designed to confuse consumers and regulators in order to get these products on the market regulated as beer even though we know full well that it’s not beer.

The beauty of this category is that it brings in new drinkers, people who really don’t like the taste of beer.  They want to sell this as beer, but they’re going after people who don’t like the taste of beer.  And we’ll talk later about what this means, these bringing in new drinkers.  Who are the new drinkers in our state?

It’s true.  It’s been mentioned that a petition for writ of mandate has been filed in the Court of Appeals in the First Appellate District.  Many in the audience, our petitioners in this case, what we have asked the court to do is do what the ABC and the BOE has refused to do which is to enforce current law.  We are not asking for reclassification of beer products.  We are asking for enforcement of current law so that distilled spirits products are properly classified and properly taxed under current California law.  
There’s—I’m not going to go through all of the issues in the petition.  I just want to highlight two of them that I think are particularly important.  You do have the petition, the ABC Department’s response, and our answer to that, but I want to highlight two areas where I believe the ABC Department and the alcohol industry amicus brief are way out of touch with California law.  The first has to do with this idea that “non-beverage flavoring” is somehow different than distilled spirits.  The Trade and Tax Bureau actually says it is distilled spirits.  They just say it loses its identity because it’s in these flavors.  Well, here’s the definition of alcoholic beverage in California Business and Professions Code 23004.  “Alcoholic beverage includes every liquid or solid containing alcohol spirits, wine, or beer, which is fit for beverage purposes either alone or when diluted, mixed, or combined with other substances.”  I can’t imagine a more clear definition of a flavoring being added to a product.  You have an alcohol, a distilled spirits flavor which the TTB has said in some cases until January of this year, 99.5 percent of the alcohol in the product is distilled spirit that has been added to, it’s been combined with other substances to make alcoholic beverages, the law is clear.  There’s no discretion from the ABC in this.  They must enforce current law.  It is not an unclear situation.  The distilled spirits found in these products should be considered as an integral part of the product and the classification requires that it be distilled spirits.  
The second thing I want to point out is the purpose of the ABC Act which is fundamentally different than the purposes under which the Trade and Tax Bureau made its decision.  Under the ABC Act, the first provision, Section 23001 states, “The Act’s purpose is to protect the safety, welfare, health, peace, and morals of the people of the state.  It is hereby declared that the subject matter of this division involves the highest degree, the economic, social, and moral wellbeing and the safety of the state and all of its people.  All provisions of this division shall be liberally construed for the accomplishment of these purposes.”  
The courts of California have looked at this provision and here’s there summary of what it means in the context of the facts that we’re dealing with today.  California law seeks to promote the welfare which will be achieved by strict regulation and curtailment of the use of liquor and the economic benefits resulting to the people from the promotion of tolerance, rather than those resulting from the promotion of the liquor industry.

That’s from the Court of Appeals.  Contrast that with the Trade and Tax Bureau decision.  I don’t have to go into detail of this, because the representative from TTB stated it very well.  The Trade and Tax Bureau based its decision primarily on the potential economic and regulatory burdens on the alcohol industry.  In quoting from their decision, “The TTB is persuaded that strict limits on the distilled spirits content in alcopops might impose economic burdens on a sector of the FMB industry.”  I believe the young people have shown eloquently the health and welfare and safety issues that these products involve.  The regulation of these products should be done in light of that.  And the remaining members of the panel will talk a bit more about those health and safety risks.  Thank you very much.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you. 
MS. SHARON O’HARA:  Good morning, Chairman Florez. 

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So, let me be clear.  You’re against this, right? (LAUGHTER) 

MR. MOSHER:  You know, I forgot I was going to also mention I have two bottles up here.  These are, you would think, are alcopops.  This has Everclear alcohol in it.  That’s, that is not meant for beverage use.  This has vodka and lemonade.  These two products are distilled spirits under California law.  Now I ask you, how do these differ from the products you have up there that are supposedly have flavor in—they have vodka flavoring them, or they have flavoring, distilled alcohol in.  These products are alcopops.  They’re marketed and taxed as distilled spirits.  All of these products should be treated the same as these.  
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.  Can we pass those around?

MS. O’HARA:  Good morning, chairman Florez and committee members.  My name is Sharon O’Hara.  And I’m the president of the California Prevention Collaborative which is an organization of individuals and groups around the state that are concerned with reducing risks associated with underage drinking.

I’m also a mother of three children, two daughters and a son.  Two of my children are currently in high school, so I’m very, very familiar at this point with the kinds of products that we’re talking about here this morning.  I’m concerned not only for my own children, but for the children across California and you’ve heard from some of them this morning who are targets of aggressive marketing and product promotions by the alcohol industry.  And here’s what I’m most concerned about—it turns out that the younger a drinker is, the more likely they are to actually drink alcopops.  There was a recent study done by the National Institutes of Drug Abuse that showed that, and you can see from the slide here that eighth graders were much more likely, almost 80 percent of eighth graders drank alcopops, eighth grade drinkers drank alcopops.  And you can see how it goes down as they get older, so that compared to 12th graders, they’re just under 2/3 of 12th grade drinkers drink these kinds of products.  And then when people get up into their 20s, it drops even more so.  So there’s clear evidence there that young people are drinking these products in high numbers.  So they appeal to the youngest, most vulnerable of drinkers.  

Another study recently released by the American Medical Association talked about teen girls who’ve seen alcopop ads on television, said that they taste better than other drinks.  And also that they’re easier to drink because they taste better.  It’s clear that these products have a great appeal for young people and that’s a huge problem for us.  They, they’re clearly initiation drinks for young people and the more young people get used to drinking these kinds of products, get used to the drinking alcohol and the effects of it, the more likely they are to graduate on to adult booze products as they get older, because as you can see, they are less interested in drinking these as they get older.
As I mentioned, I have two daughters, and I have extreme concern for them as relates to this issue, as well.  In fact, just this month the president’s office of National Drug Control Policy released its own study about youth who are 12-17 years old, which shows that girls are now initiating drinking at a higher rate than boys are, along with some other risk behaviors, as well.  So research is showing that adolescent girls experience unique kinds of vulnerability during periods of adolescence, and they also suffer more consequences and problems related to drinking, as well.  So it turns out that unfortunately for them, the alcohol industry has these products that are just about tailor made for young girls.  And you’ve heard some of the girls this morning already say it.  

A study that was quoted by the American Medical Association said that girls who’ve seen alcopops on TV say they taste better, as I mentioned, they’re easier to drink, and they incorrectly believe that alcopops have less alcohol than beer or other similar drinks, which means that they see the harms as being much less than drinking beer or other drinks.
They also believe, in this study, by a two to one margin that these products are marketed more to them than to other children.  So, I’m tired of my children and particularly my daughters of being in the cross hairs of the alcohol industry who have their eye clearly targeted on them to consume these kinds of sweet products that are easy to go down.  Underage drinking is a major problem, leads to thousands of deaths and serious injuries in California each year.  I firmly believe that as adults, we have a duty to protect our young people from harm, including the irresponsible marketing and sales of sweet flavored, mixed alcoholic drinks that look and taste like soda pop as you’ve seen here today.
And I respectfully ask the committee to put the needs of California youth ahead of business interests.  Alcopops are not beer.  They’re distilled spirits and they should be treated as such.  I want my children to grow up in this state with a chance of getting past this age where they are clearly being targeted to drink these products.  Thank you very much.

MS. LYNNE GOODWIN:  Okay.  Good morning.  My name is Lynne Goodwin and I’m with the California Friday Night Live Partnership.  And for all of my adult career prevention and working with young people to help them steer clear of the harms that underage drinking brings into their lives has been my work.  I am also first and foremost a mother.  I am the mother of a beautiful young woman who was killed by an underage drinking driver in your county.  Not your fault.  But, you can definitely do something about it.  And that’s what I’m here to speak about from the parent perspective of what alcopops are brining into our communities and the damage and destruction that it wreaks in its path.

One of the primary things that I think is difficult for parents, you know, as a parent who’s out there trying every day to do the best that I can as I’m sure all of you are.  We have our hands tied at every turn.  No matter how hard we try, there’s always issues like this.  We have “Jones” and we have “Zima.”  But, you’ve got to do your homework to be able to know which kid that walks through your door holding one of these what they’re holding.  You know, are you going to pounce on them or not?  I have teenagers that have come home and said there’s drinking in their classrooms.  If you are the teacher, what can you do if you don’t know?  Is your homework going to be about teaching math or is your homework going to be about what’s in the bottle that the kid has in front of you?

This is soda pop and this is not.  This has alcohol.  This does not.  

SENATOR ROMERO:  How do they taste?  

MS. GOODWIN:  Bring on the paper cups.  They’re very, very sweet and similar in taste.  Great lengths have been—bring it on.  I believe the alcoholic one is easier to get open.

UNIDENTIFIED:  Is this a new precedent for the California State Senate?  (LAUGHTER) 

SENATOR FLOREZ:  ABC, can we, in a state building?

(INAUDIBLE)  (LAUGHTER) 

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I’ll pass, Gloria.  Do you want to open that?  That’s a good idea.  Sergeant, can we get some small cups?

MS. GOODWIN:  But, as a parent whose my life’s work is about keeping my children safe and helping to keep my community safe and the young people that I work with.  And with that kind of labeling and that kind of marketing, how am I going to win?  I need your help here and something has got to change.  If parents have these struggles and we’re charging them with this responsibility and we as legislators, or you as legislators—I’m thinking big here—if we’re not taking that responsibility seriously though and giving your constituents all of the support that they need and deserve to keep their own families and communities safe, they are being failed.  Bottom line. 

There is no immunity.  I believe that I’m living proof of that.  Our family’s very aware and very—we walked or talked in all aspects of this issue, but there is no immunity.  There’s no free passes, unless we all take responsibility for making our community safe.  There is not one person in this room that is safe.  And so I would, and I want to leave you with this parting thought.  As I’ve been sitting here watching all morning, it’s very clear to me that this is not an issue of who is right.  This is an issue of what is right.  And I really need my legislators to do what is right for my young people in my community.  Because, that’s the bottom line.  There’s nothing more important here.  
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.  Okay.  Couple questions before you go.  

UNIDENTIFIED:  We have one more speaker.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  We have more?  How many more?  Fred, come on up.  Well, no, go ahead.  Let me hear your testimony and—

MR. FRED JONES:  Thank you.  Fred Jones, California Council on Alcohol Problems.  Appreciate the time.  This is more than a tax issue.  This is a marketing issue and an accessibility issue.  And point was made earlier.  Let me just clarify.  The major networks, three major networks have had a voluntary ban on marketing distilled spirits on television forever.  NBC two years ago revoked that ban and had so much outcry from the public they reimposed it.  So this is another way that Smirnoff and others, distilleries, can market their products on the major networks.  And we’ve seen them all.  And our youth are seeing those.  

Accessibility—there’s a huge difference between liquor stores, type 21 finite licenses where nobody other than 21 year olds can be in that store, and convenience stores.  And so this is as much to do with marketing and accessibility as it does with taxation.  And I guess that’s more of a comment for Senator McClintock.  
The director of ABC said that this hearing begins the debate.  But, last year we were told by the industry in passing a last minute gut and amend bill, that there was no debate.  That this is clear law.  So where was the debate then?  We need to start a debate.  I’m glad we’re having the discussion now.  This should not be left up to regulators.  They’re unaccountable.  BOE tells us that they defer to ABC.  ABC’s telling us that they defer to TTB.  Now I got lost in acronyms way back when.  But, I don’t vote for any of them.  

So, anyway, that was just my comments.  Please, fire away.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, let me just ask a couple questions.  What do you say to ABC’s earlier comments that if we’re going to do this across the board, there’s also some wine products that include some of these.  What would be your response to that?  I think you heard that. 

MR. JONES:   Yeah.  I am an attorney.  I think the law is pretty clear that if distilled spirits are mixed or diluted with water, I don’t care what the base product is, if it’s mixed or diluted with distilled spirits, be they flavoring distilled spirits or ability and palatable on their own, they’re distilled spirits.  So if wine is doing that, that’s one thing.  But the code section actually, I believe, when it defines wine clarifies that certain things can be added to them and continuous, continue to be considered wine.  So I believe the code section on wine and if Mr. Falasco with the Wine Institute is here, he may be able to clarify that for you.  If the code section’s clear, that’s fine.  We think it’s clear on distilled spirits, however.  
MR. MOSHER:  Just to clarify—the beer definition does not allow for additions, specifically the way the wine statutes do.  So the wine statutes say you can add certain distilled spirits.  The beer statute definition does not.  So in that case, that the distilled spirits definition should be paramount.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, well, I’m—are we worried about that?  I mean, in other words, are we worried from a point of view you’re saying the wine doesn’t necessarily say that, but the beer explicitly says if we’re mixing then it is going to be distilled spirits?  I mean if the overall spirit of this is to market and to make sure that these aren’t accessible there still is a shot of alcohol in one of those, in essence.
MR. MOSHER:  You mean in the wine?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yeah.

MR. MOSHER:  Yes, that’s true.  At least in the wine case—

SENATOR FLOREZ:  _____ I guess is my question to you.

MR. MOSHER:  I think it would be worth looking at the, you know, there are these high octane wines, 18 percent fortified wines that have in the past been targeted to young people.  It is something that we’re looking at in the research to see what the young people are drinking.  And I think that can be a starting point.  There was a product called “Cisco” that was marketed about 10 years ago in which it looked like a five percent alcopop, but it was an actual 18 percent fortified wine.  And a number of young people ended up in the emergency room with alcohol poisoning because it was so sweet you couldn’t taste the alcohol.  

So it is an issue, but with the fortified wines, the taxes are quite a bit higher, so the wine makers like Gallo have also gone into the—they used to have wine coolers.  The wine coolers are now all these alcopops getting the beer treatment rather than the wine treatment, because it’s better, it’s cheaper to do it as an alcopop.  
SENATOR ROMERO:  On the question of the mixing, is it though that there has to be a certain percentage though?  Because you said if it’s mixed, it’s mixed.  But, I would imagine that you might also take a look, is it 50 percent plus one or is it five percent distilled spirits and 95 percent something else?  So it’s not just a question of the mixing, correct?  It’s got to be a majority, I would think?

         MR. JONES:  Well, that was an economic decision based on regulating, but in California it’s clear.  If it’s any mixture dilution, and I forgot the other term, with distilled spirits, the finished product is going to be considered, for California’s purposes, a distilled spirit.

SENATOR ROMERO:  But, I’m new to G.O., so I have to ask this question.  Not new to questions on alcohol, but new to this issue of FMBs.  Are you telling me that if there is something that is one percent distilled spirit, and my now 21-year-old daughter mixes 99 percent Pepsi cola, is this a distilled spirit according to the law?

MR. JONES:  According to clear letter law, yes.  According to case law, yes.  But, also according to, let’s get back to the regulatory level.  How are regulators going to know one percent, three percent, six percent, seven percent?  California needs a bright line test.  Our code sections bright and clear.  If they’re going to add one percent, so be it.  It’s a distilled spirits.  

SENATOR ROMERO:  And, see, I agree that we probably do need to ____, because that one percent alcohol to me, that’s not a distilled spirits.  I mean, and if the law is it, I would certainly question that.  The other issue that I would ask, though, is that perhaps it is looking at again another category.  There’s a number of factors here.  But, Mr. Chair, we do have our samples.  Should we?
MR. MOSHER:  Just one clarification.  Under the code in California and most states and the federal government, a product has to have at least .5 percent alcohol before it is an alcoholic beverage.  But, if you have a distilled—as you said, the product I circulated, the Glacier vodka, that’s five percent alcohol.  It’s five—if that were one percent, it would still be alcohol and it would still be a distilled spirit, because it’s the only—

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And to be clear, this is taxed at $3.30.  This is also an alcoholic product.  Looks like an energy drink. This has 6.6 percent alcohol.  This has five percent alcohol.  And yet it’s taxed at the distilled rate.  This is higher alcoholic content, yet taxed at a lesser rate.  Is that correct?

MR. MOSHER:  I believe so. I’m not sure for 6.5 percent.
SENATOR ROMERO:  Mr. Chair?  I would also again, too, want to learn more about the issue with the mixing with wine, because at a certain point, I could see a void in the market.  Let’s say we were to go ahead and move FMBs and say we’re going to crack down or do other changes here.  I think simply the market being the market and it is supply and demand to a large extent, it’s going to move and you’re going to see, perhaps, a proliferation of these other drinks on the market that teens will still have ready access to. 

SENATOR FLOREZ:   Senator, I actually did my own test and then Bob knows which—I couldn’t tell the difference and I’m not just saying that.  I really, I don’t know if you can or not.  I know Eddie doesn’t drink sweet drinks, (LAUGHTER)  so I’m not going to even ask him.  Do they taste the same to you?

UNIDENTIFIED:  (INAUDIBLE)  
SENATOR FLOREZ:  To the connoisseur--  (LAUGHTER) She got the distinction.  Let me ask one more question in terms of the mandatory labeling, we asked the feds earlier about that particular aspect when they looked at this back in ’96 and they started to take, see a proliferation of these types of products in 2000, and we were at that point in time looking at what was mandated to be put on the particular product itself.  And then the requirement of the manufacturer, getting the manufacturers ready for the change—what did you take from that discussion?  What happened from that block of time, very quickly?  I mean, obviously market forces took over and this was a very viable product and what do you take—because that’s really why we’re here.  I mean, during that time frame something happened very substantial.  What your opinions on that would be appreciated.
MR. MOSHER:  Well, the TTB first recognized that there was a problem in 1996 and it took them nine years to come up with a rule.  In the meantime these products proliferated and then they said well there’d be this terrible economic burden on the industry.  So we need to let them do what they’re doing.  But, why nine years would be the first question.

The second issue on the labeling is that what’s required by the feds on beer labeling is only required if the state has a law that also requires it.  So, the federal rules on beer on labeling these things would not apply if we in California classified them as distilled spirits, then their labeling requirements would not apply in California.  So there is no conflict.  California can establish its own classification.  The TTB has stated that explicitly.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right, we asked that.

MR. MOSHER:  So, my opinion is that that just showed an incredible dereliction of duty on the part of the TTB to wait nine years and allow this market to explode before they even did the rulemaking.  I just don’t see how they can justify having waited so long.

MR. EDUARDO GONZALEZ:  Eduardo Gonzalez, part of the Youth Leadership Institute.  I’m a senior director at Fresno County.  Couple of points here, Senator.  When we talk about teenagers, we think of either 8th graders or higher.  And actually studies show that in Fresno the average first drink, average first drink, I repeat, is 9.5  We’re not talking about teenagers, okay.  If you do the math, it’s talking about fourth and fifth graders.  
Second thing, I’ve served on the school board at the community level and part of our problems with teachers is that a lot of these drinks, alcopops, are really similar to soda pop, the sweet drinks, so at what point do we start training teachers on identifying products and what time do we take off away from our educating teachers who are, educating our teachers, our youth on whether you have a soda pop in your hand or a distilled spirit, or a malt drink.  Part of that is our prevention youth councils have actually gone within Central Valley and found out that, you know, there’s 30 or 54 liquor licenses within a mile radius of a school, okay.  Taxing this as distilled spirit, that would reduce this by a lot.

Access to alcopops by youth according to focus groups that recently were held in the Central Valley is that they’re very easy to get, they’re preferred by girls, teenage girls, younger girls as well, fifth, sixth graders, who like the taste and the sweet taste of it.  Obviously the drink was passed around and the consensus is that they taste the same.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Thank you, all, very much for your testimony.  Okay, let’s, you could turn to industry representatives, Marc Sorini, Partner, McDermott Will & Emery; Ronald Fowler, CEO, Liquid Investments, Inc.; and Auday Arabo, President & CEO, California Independent Grocers and Convenience Stores.  Thank you for joining us.

MR. MARC SORINI:  My name is Marc Sorini and I’m here representing the Flavored Malt Beverage Coalition which is a group of companies that collectively produces more than half the flavored malt beverages distributed in the United States today.
Let me start by—

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is this a group of. . . .

MR. SORINI:  It’s a coalition of companies.  There are six member companies.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Who are the companies?

MR. SORINI:  They are City Brewing Company in Wisconsin, Diageo of North America, which is based out of Stanford, Connecticut; Mark Anthony Brands, which is based out of Seattle, Washington; High Falls Brewing Company, which is the old Genesee Brewery up in New York; the U.S. Beverage Company, which is a distributor out of someplace in Connecticut, and I can’t recall exactly; Pernod Ricard U.S.A. which is in New York.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Did you mention a California company?  I didn’t catch that?

MR. SORINI:  There is not a California based company in the coalition, although of course, many of these companies employ people in California.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yeah, sure, okay, go ahead.
MR. SORINI:  Coalition members share the committee’s concerns and the concerns of the past panelists with underage drinking.  Underage drinking certainly is a serious problem and it’s very gratifying to see so many young people take some time out of their day and be so committed to this issue that they would come here.  I think where the coalition member companies would respectfully part ways with some of the members of the past panel is whether the effective solution to underage drinking is to scapegoat a very small category of products.  What we think is going to be key to tackling the underage drinking problem is focusing on solutions that work and those solutions, I think, were alluded to here.  We hear that retailers are not carding, so the kids have easy access by going to retail stores.  Well, to me, we need to enforce the law better in California to make sure retailers aren’t providing alcohol to young people.  
Second of all, statistically, a vast majority of the alcohol that children consume, unfortunately, is provided to them by adults, oftentimes their parents.  And that has got to stop.  The national figures are something like 70 percent of the alcohol consumed by children are given to them by adults, so this is a major problem.  And then finally, of course, education efforts both of parents, other adults, and teens.  Those are the solutions that we think are going to work.

Let me say a little bit about nomenclature.  Malt beverage is the operative statutory term as you heard Mr. Bacon testify under federal regulatory rules, so I am very instinctively saying malt beverage.  The operative statutory term in California is beer, so if you’ll bear with me, I’ll try to use the term flavored beer, which I think is a more accurate description of the category.

Three basic things I’d like to cover today.  One is a little bit of background, and I’m going to try to cut that short, because, frankly, you got some very good background from a lot of folks in the prior panels.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Can I ask you a question?  I just caught in passing—you said that the correct term for these are flavored beer?

MR. SORINI:  I think under California law you would say flavored beer, because malt beverage has no specific defined meaning under California law.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Would you have any problems with us writing on the label, “flavored beer”?

MR. SORINI:  No, in fact, the state of Texas, I believe, requires that.  I mean, look, let me do a little disclaimer here.  I haven’t checked with my individual member, but I don’t think there would be a problem.  Indeed, I think Texas requires the words “flavored beer” on some of their labels.  And you know, I will say this, I brought some samples of the three leading products which represent, I’m sure, well over three-quarters of the flavored beer sold.  And I don’t recognize almost any of those products that you have up there.  That’s not to say that they may not be out there—

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, I guess they were bought in the Central Valley where I live, so . . .
MR. SORINI:  Yeah, I, of this whole group up there --
SENATOR FLOREZ:   That doesn’t count for much.

MR. SORINI:  --I recognize, of course the Seagram Cooler has been around for quite some time, and Smirnoff Ice is the leading brand.  But, getting back to what I’m going to talk about, I’ll do a little bit of background if I can, then talk about what we think are the real solutions to underage drinking versus the distraction of going after a small category of products.  And I think also the data is going to unequivocally show that although kids unfortunately, are getting a hold of flavored beer and beer and wine and spirits and that’s a problem and it has to be tackled, that flavored beer are not either the cause of underage drinking nor particular part of the problem.  

And then I want to talk a little bit about the statutory issues that I guess I respectfully have a disagreement with folks like Mr. Mosher as to what existing law calls for right now.  Flavored beer as, and I think Mr. Bacon referred to this a little bit, but the category really does go back quite some time.  When you talk about what is a flavored beer, it’s really self referential, which means something that has a beer base to which flavors are added.  Now there are various ways you can do that.  if you’re desiring something that has a taste profile like a beer but an overlay of say, a fruit flavor, and this a lot of small brewers do, you know, strawberry, a strawberry wheat beer.  I think I brought an example of it here.  You know, Pete’s Strawberry Wheat.  Well, that is simply, take a beer, I mean I don’t know how Pete’s makes it exactly.  All that’s proprietary.  But essentially you take a beer, you pour a flavor in.  When it gets to products where you might want to—and there’s a lot of small brewer products like this.  When you get to products where you’re looking for a taste profile that’s unlike conventional beer, then what you do is you go though a process as Mr. Mosher characterized as taking the beer taste out of beer.  Yes, there are adult consumers that don’t like the taste of beer and a product like this gives them the same drinking occasions, the same alcohol content.  It’s really a beer, except it has a different taste profile.  
The category first arose, although you can trace it back really, I think, TTB and their rulemakings noted and this is even beyond what I know, but products back to the 1940s.  But, the first flowering of the category took place in the late 1960s and early 70s, and you may recall products like Riunite on Ice and Cold Duck, kind of sweet carbonated, often carbonated wines that were very competitive at that point.  Brewers came up with their answer to those products with things like Champale, and these were really the first wave of popular flavored beers.

The second wave and of course they died out or at least waned in popularity in the second wave was with the wine cooler in the mid-80s, which as Mr. Mosher noted, morphed into malt beverage coolers, beer coolers by the late 80s and early 1990s.  So that was sort of the second peaked time of flavored malt beverage sales in this country.  Although, in no case has flavored beer ever been an enormous part of the beer market.  I think right now it’s about 2.3 percent.  The most recent peak in 2002 was about three percent.

The last wave was in 1999, I think.  Mike’s Hard Lemonade and then Smirnoff Ice came out.  Those are still two category leaders.  They peaked around 2002 at about three percent of the market and are now down to about 2.3 percent of the market.

You know, the important thing to recognize when you realize the sort of ups and downs of the market here is the following.  And by pointing this out, I want to emphasize that coalition members and the industry at large does not mean to downplay the importance of underage drinking and the importance of taking underage drinking under control.  But, progress has been made.  Up here I have gotten—this is data from Monitoring the Future, which is the most reputable, in fact, several of Mr. Mosher’s slides relied up on Monitoring the Future.  It is the best data for what, unfortunately, are true facts about underage consumption.  And you look at that chart over there and what you’ll see is a fairly consistent decline over the years, but I think what is particularly relevant to this hearing is that if you compare the chart there with, it doesn’t go back to the Champale era, but if you compare it with the two booms in popularity of flavored products, you’ll see that underage drinking continued to decline during the periods of popularity of flavored beers, both the one that peaked in 2002, and the one that peaked sometime in the 1980s.
So, does that mean that it’s not a problem?  Of course not.  Does that mean we shouldn’t be doing things to address underage drinking?  Of course not.  Does it mean that I think there’s any evidence that flavored products cause underage drinking?  No, I don’t think flavored products cause underage drinking or any particular part of the problem.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Senator Soto.

SENATOR SOTO:  Doesn’t that make them a little more inviting and saleable?  The fact that they are sweet and inviting?  

MR. SORINI:  Well, I think unfortunately, if kids are getting a hold of these products, then I think the real problem has to be addressing the access issue.  We’ve got far too many adults and in particular sadly sometimes parents who are willing to be cool and give kids alcoholic beverage products.  And then based on some of the testimony, we heard from some of the teens, it appears that we haven’t done as good a job as we can in stopping that clerk who may have a friend in the, a friend coming up to the counter from selling them a beverage. 

You know, one thing I do want to say, though, is one of the slides that was up in the prior panels said that 80 percent, and it cited Monitoring the Future, it said that 80 percent of eighth graders had in 30-day prevalence had tried flavored beers.  That shocked and surprised me in the fact that young kids had any preference for any booze is terrible, and that’s what we ought to be concentrating on.  But, that’s simply not borne out by them, and I’d be happy to give you a copy of the Monitoring the Future study I have right here which shows it was about a 14.6 percent in 2004 and 12.9 percent in 2005.  Again, also noting there’s some decline.  Things are getting a little bit better.  
What is going to work?  I think we need to work on access.  I think we need to work on clerks not providing alcohol.  I think we need to work on self esteem issues with youth particularly with young girls.  I think we need to work on educating parents.  So I think there’s a lot that can be done and the industry really wants to work with folks like the people on the last panel, folks like yourselves in coming up with some real solutions.

There has been some talk about confusing these products with soft drinks, and I just want to get my props up here on at least three leading products.  And honestly, I, some of these products here, I see that one in the pink there.  I’ve never seen that before.  Or, I guess those are sodas.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Where is that Wicked Strawberry Blonde?  Where is that sold in California?

MR. SORINI:  Oh, this is a beer.  This is a beer.  A flavored beer.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Where is it sold in California?

MR. SORINI:  So, I assume it would be sold in the same places that would, that any other beer would be sold. 

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Do you know any of the establishments in California that, where it’s sold?
MR. FOWLER:  Various liquor stores and convenience stores.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, name one.

MR. FOWLER:  7-11.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Where?

MR. FOWLER:  Most places in California would handle something like that.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Like somewhere in Sacramento?

MR. FOWLER:  Yes.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  That beer?

MR. FOWLER:  Yes. 

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Alright, go ahead.

MR. SORINI:  Well, you know, I’ve got the three leading products here.  This is the third most popular flavored beer.  It’s Bacardi Silver.  This is the second.  It’s Mike’s Hard Lemonade.  And the number one brand is Schmirnoff Ice.  And certainly for products like these I think that it would be very difficult given that they’re packaged in beer type six packs, they come in beer bottles, you know, kind of your standard, 12 oz. bottle.  Two of them have a trademark that’s very well associated with alcohol beverages.  The third one, it’s very title says “hard”.  I think these are products that aren’t going to be confused with non-alcoholic products.  But to the extent, even if someone could go to the cold box and pick something up not realizing what’s happening today, you know, we live in an electronic environment.  The scanners that people use to ring in alcoholic beverages at check out, once they get an alcoholic beverage, and this is not determined by the clerk.  This is determined by the little, wherever the little scanner, you know what I’m talking about, the little bar code.  It’s going to tell you that that skew’s an alcoholic beverage, it’s going to stop the transaction, it’s going to ask for an I.D.  Unfortunately, the problem is that most kids who are getting these products are getting them from other adults, so no matter what kind of safeguards you can put out there, and not just these products, but any alcoholic beverage product, there’s going to be an access issue.  And again, I think that’s the area of focus.
I’d also like to talk about now and this is where we get into the arcana of alcohol beverage formulation and regulation.  And as Mr. Bacon pointed out, flavors are not, are not distilled spirits and I think there was a lot of talk and perhaps some confusion when we talked about it in the context of the flavors added to a beverage product.  But, just think about your own pantries.  If you were to go and look at the bottle of vanilla extract or peppermint extract, you will see that it is loaded with alcohol.  And certainly if the standard was to the extent you could dilute it and drink it, which you could do to any of those products, because, of course, they’re potable, they’re intended for use in food and beverages, then we would have to start regulating those as distilled spirit products, which is why I respectfully disagree with some of the interpretations that are being put forth.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  How many would you have to drink of those products to get the five percent?
MR. SORINI:  Not a lot.  If you look at a bottle of vanilla extract and I’m remembering off the top of my head and I’d be happy to provide the committee with more precise information, but usually those products contain 70 proof, 35 percent alcohol by volume.  They, too, have quite a high amount of alcohol.  So my guess is, you know, your standard bottle of vanilla extract, that’s probably more alcohol than a standard beer.  Now that’s just a guess, but my recollection is that they’re typically about 35 percent alcohol.  
So, you know, you’re talking about apples and oranges.  I think the folks who are advocating for reclassifying flavored beer and flavored wine, and I’ll get to why wine very much is implicated in a moment.  But, the people who are saying that you have to treat all alcohol, all distilled alcohol added to a product as distilled spirits I think are really equating apples and oranges.  
If you look at the, first of all, California law is almost exactly like federal law.  It has a specific exemption from the regulatory provisions for flavors and extracts.  And the standard which is unfit for beverage use is nearly identical to the federal standard unfit for beverage purposes.  It’s also important to recognize that doesn’t mean that it’s unpotable, like dangerous, because of course a flavor or extract, its very purpose is to be used in cooking or used in a beverage or used in food.  What it does mean is that you can’t drink it as a beverage on its own.  And so example, the Board of Equalization has held that something like angostura bitters which is very much intended to be used in alcoholic mixed drinks, is not taxable as a distilled spirits.  Why is that?  Because you couldn’t drink angostura bitters as a beverage product on its own.  
So when you hear a lot of talk about this and I’m sorry that I’m getting into the nitty gritty of the California Business and Professions Code, but when you look at the definition of distilled spirits and it talks about mixtures and dilutions, it’s mixtures and dilutions of a beverage product.  In fact, what it does is it lists a bunch of recognized class and types of alcoholic distilled spirits, rum, vodka, gin, and then it says alcohol for beverage use.  Again the Legislature was very clear.  They didn’t want to sweep in all the industrial alcohol that gets used in chip manufacturing and all the industrial alcohol used in other purposes or the alcohol that’s used in the flavoring industry.
So we think there’s a very clear distinction that California law draws between distilled alcohol that’s used in a non-beverage product like a flavor and distilled spirits which are a beverage product.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And what, how old is that section that you mentioned in law?  1930?

MR. SORINI:  My guess is that it probably dates to the beginning of the Code, but I have not checked the legislative history.  I’d be happy to provide you with that. 

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, that’s probably around 1930, so were we thinking of these particular products in 1930?
MR. SORINI:  Well, I do think there was a recognition if you look at the Prohibition Act for—
SENATOR FLOREZ:  It goes well beyond Cold Duck and other products.

MR. SORINI:  Well, I think there was a recognition as early as certainly the Prohibition Act in 1920 that flavors were exempted, because even then, the use of alcohol in the flavor industry goes back at least to the 19th century, probably earlier, although I don’t know much more beyond the 19th century.  And so for example in Prohibition, there was an exemption cut out for flavoring products and it was an unfit for, the unfit for beverage purposes standard which is now California law and federal law, I believe, was first enshrined in, of all things, the Prohibition Act.  So that the point is that with these products, they’re more than half the alcohol’s coming from beer, they are packaged like beer, they’re distributed through the beer distribution system.  They have the same amount of alcohol as beer.  As Senator Soto pointed out, you can get just as drunk on them as any other product.  We think that the logical thing to do here is to treat them as beer.  
One point about wine—you know, the wine statute does have a limited exception to the general rule that you can’t add a distilled spirits to a fermented product.  And by the way, let me be clear, nobody’s adding vodka or gin to these products.  That would make them a distilled spirits.  Flavors are a different thing.  But, the wine exception is specific to brandy.  And so I don’t know, again, I’m not privy to the proprietary formulas of various makers of wine, but I could pretty much guarantee you that when they’re using flavors in these products, they’re not using brandy.  They’re using something that’s got a grain neutral spirits base which is the typical carrier for a, in fact it’s probably the only carrier for a flavor.  

Does the committee have any questions?
SENATOR FLOREZ:  I do.

MR. SORINI:  Okay, sure thing.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let’s just talk about the, how you began with the very small percentage of the industry.  What was it, two percent?

MR. SORINI:  Uhhhh...

SENATOR FLOREZ:  These products.  

MR. SORINI:  I think these products, the most they ever achieved is three percent.  My guess is that there have been peaks and valleys in the three different phases of popularity.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, so why do you care if it’s taxed as distilled spirits?  If it’s such a small percentage.
MR. SORINI:  Because there are companies—

SENATOR FLOREZ:  It’s just a fundamental question.

MR. SORINI:  Well I think companies that sell these products, obviously have a great interest in seeing that their product get treated fairly with the products they compete with which are standard beers, and we think that there’s a lot of disappointed consumers who will be out there if suddenly they can’t find products that they know and enjoy in the way that they’ve been able to find them, and at the prices.  One other note, though.  These products are typically sold at premium, above premium beer prices, so to the extent teens, and again, it’s sad if a teen can buy alcohol anywhere, but this is definitely not the cheapest buzz.  These things sell at about the same price as your more expensive imported beers.  And far above the price of your more popular priced and premium priced domestics.  
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  What’s the cost—maybe to follow up on that question.  What’s the consequence of taking this to the distilled category for the industry?  What’s—you mentioned some of them.  Is that the consequence?  They won’t be made anymore?

MR. SORINI:  Well, there’s a couple of things that could happen.  There is, when we did the, looked at the federal rulemaking and frankly, I think the TTB has been much maligned.  I think they did a very good job in coming up with a fair and balanced rule that did clearly require that most of the alcohol, the majority of the alcohol in these products come from a fermented product.  And indeed, for products above six percent, it’s a very limited amount of alcohol that can come from flavors.  

But, certainly, at that point there was discussions of a more stringent standard that companies could reformulate to.  The issue there then became a case of imposing additional costs, because as I said and we make no bones about this, these are products that aren’t supposed to taste like conventional beer.  They’re supposed to appeal to adult consumers who like a taste alternative to conventional beer, and so they don’t want to have hop and malt flavor.  The more you restrict the flavorings in it, the more you have to spend on taking the hop and malt flavor out of the base product.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let’s go on to ____.

SENATOR SOTO:  If someone was inebriated with this stuff and they were stopped by an officer, could they tell or does it make any difference as long as they’re inebriated?
MR. SORINI:  Now, I’m no expert.
SENATOR SOTO:  He would say all I was drinking was this other stuff.

MR. SORINI:  Under modern breathalyzers, they are not going to be fooled by the sweetness of the product or anything else.  They are going to measure the amount of alcohol that’s coming out of the person’s breath, so no, something like this is not going to make any difference.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Thank you.  Let’s go on to Mr. Fowler.
MR. RON FOWLER:  Thank you, Senator Florez and committee members.  My name is Ron Fowler.  I’m the CEO of Liquid Investments and two operating companies called Mesa Beverage and Mesa Distributing doing business in the State of California.  We are in San Diego, Santa Rosa, and Sacramento.  We do business with over 10,000 licensees.  We do about $240 million in sales in California and employ over 550 people.  Our distribution network covers San Diego County, covers Sonoma and Marin Counties, Sacramento, Yolo, and San Joaquin, and parts of a number of other counties.  
I’ve been in this business for a long time as the gray hair would indicate.  I came out of graduate school in ’68 from the University of Minnesota, so I’ve been in the beer business since then.  I’ve been in the beer distribution business in California since 1974, and I guess I’ve been around long enough to have sat through hearings back in the late 70s as it related to wine coolers and how they should be classified.
Our companies—

SENATOR FLOREZ:  How did that turn out?

MR. FOWLER:  The wine industry basically turned the coolers into malt products because they added far more favorable tax issue.  I think Gallo led the way on that.
Our companies carried a lot of beer products over the years as consumer preferences have changed and product lines have been extended.  When I first got into the business in the late 60s we had basically a lot of products but they’re all really lager products.  Budweiser would be one of them, Miller High Life, Coors Banquet, and all kinds of other breweries, many of whom have gone out of business.  So changes have now taken place and we now have an abundance of what I call beer products from lite beers to various iterations of microbrews that we have here, red beers, we have alcohol-free beers, and low-carb beers.  This is a wheat beer.  We also have wheat-free beers.  And as parts, as the product evolution continued, we now have what we refer to as flavored beer products that are sitting on this table.

Though all these changes, I think there’s one thing that’s been constant with our customers, the retailers, and our other customers, the consumers, and that is a beer product is a beer product.  We certainly have among us these newer products that you see.  And frankly, from my standpoint as being in the industry, flavored malt products are really flavored beer products.  They are produced in breweries as all the other products are, beer products.  They consist primarily, that’s a legal definition with 51 percent of a fermented malt base, just like traditional beers.  They have the same alcohol content as beer has.  They’re packaged like beer, priced like imported beer, sold by people like myself, beer distributors.  They compete directly with beer products.  And also retailers, as Auday will tell you, store them in cold boxes simply as they store beers.  And the government, federal government in 49 of the 50 states treat them as beer products.

The other thing is if you go to a picnic and go in the backyards, consumers see flavored beer products as an alternative to the traditional beers.  So quite simply, people recognize, in my mind, that a flavored beer is still a beer product.  Treating flavored beer like something it is not will not solve complex problem that we have with underage drinking.  I know I speak for our entire industry when I say that underage drinking is a serious issue.  I have teenagers myself, and it is a legitimate public policy matter for this body to consider.

The imposing of a 1,500 plus percent tax increase on flavored beer will not solve the problem of underage drinking that we are facing.  Our industry has worked with the Legislature on improved enforcement and directed programs to keep alcohol out of the hands of young people. 

Thank you for the opportunity to testify and I’d be happy to take any questions.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.  What was that percentage of the taxing?
MR. FOWLER:  It’s over 1,500 percent.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Fifteen hundred percent.  Okay.  How about the marketing of the product?  Do you feel encroached upon given that there are drinks like this now, these energy companies are copying you or you guys copying the energy drink industry?  Who’s following who here?
MR. FOWLER:  Well, personally I think—

SENATOR FLOREZ:  This looks like a beer.  Maybe it kind of does.

MR. FOWLER:  Well, that is a malt product that you have in your hand there.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  It’s a beer, right?

MR. FOWLER:  It’s a beer product, yes.  I think there’s a lot of confusion in the, as it relates to energy drinks and alcohol in energy drinks—

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Are energy drinks your competitor now on shelf space?

MR. FOWLER:  Energy drinks typically with vodka has become the new hot thing for young consumers, unfortunately many of them I think are underage.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I guess the question I had are these your competitors, energy drinks? 

MR. FOWLER:  The pure energy drinks are our competitor in the sense of they’re taking liquid consumption away and when you mix them with distilled spirits they’re definitely a competitor to regular beer products.

SENATOR FLOREZ:   And so, and I guess this is the issue I guess I’m having is those are in beer type of containers, but these are, this is 6.6 percent alcohol.  I’m just trying to figure who’s the new competitor now.  Is it the alcohol companies now trying to buy for this market that is younger, that may prefer an energy based look?  I mean, why the packaging?  You know, I’m not going to talk about the taxation.  I just want to talk about the marketing issue for a moment.  What are your thoughts on who’s following who now?  Anyone.

MR. SORINI:  Well, I will say that none of the coalition company products are in that category if you’ll say, if you call it a category.  But, I am, I guess I’ve seen that product before.  It’s a fairly new product.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  I’m actually seeing a lot of new products.  You know, these products here.  This is a six percent alcohol drink.  This is an energy drink.  

MR. FOWLER:  Which one’s the one on the left?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  This is, on my right here, this is the six percent flavored beer.  This is the title of it—

MR. FOWLER:  I’m not familiar with that product.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  --Riccochet.  I’m not, I guess many, understanding marketing a little bit that useful life of a product unless it reaches some sort of brand equity distinction is going to constantly change the packaging in order to, in essence, entice and I guess the question I would have is in this room, it’s not you, I’m asking you if you feel encroached upon by the energy drink.  Maybe we have the wrong people at the hearing.  Maybe we should have the energy drink people here and ask them why are you copying the industry, the alcohol industry.  But, it seems someone is following someone, and I'm just kind of wondering what your thoughts are on that.
MR. FOWLER:  The energy drinks are taking a significant portion of market from the carbonated soft drinks.  And I think as smaller suppliers in our industry look at that, they’re looking to come out with something to compete.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.

MR. FOWLER:  Some people, and rightfully so, probably have concern about there’s a dichotomy between having the times in an energy drink and alcohol.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:   Right.  And I guess I’m wondering as these, the product as it’s packaged and as we’ve been talking about, I mean, maybe the dollars and cents issue from your vantage point is taxation.  The hearing that we have today is a little broader than that, and it also has to do with the manufacturing and marketing issues.  And of course taxation affects accessibility and where it’s sold and how its sold.  But, just on the marketing aspect, I mean, I guess my question is are these your competitors?  I mean are these energy drinks your competitors?

MR. FOWLER:  Well, some distributors handle energy drinks, a lot of us don’t.  So from the standpoint of our company, they are competitors in most of our operations.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, great.  Okay.  Thank you very much.  

MR. AUDAY ARABO:  Good afternoon, Senator Florez, members of the committee, and committee staff, my name’s Auday Arabo.  I’m president of the California Independent Grocers and Convenience Stores.  Let me just first say that access of alcohol to minors is a very serious issue to us, especially to me personally being a former prosecutor in San Diego County.  It’s something that we do first and foremost and really push ABC LEAD training in every sense of the word.  I mean that’s pretty much why we created an incredible partnership with ABC and local law enforcement all throughout the state.  

That being said, we do have some concerns with reclassifying this product to a distilled spirits.  Pretty much, I guess the biggest misnomer is malt flavored beverage or alcopops.  From my standpoint, it’s a new word that I’ve heard.  I mean, I’ve never read it in any legal documentation or anything else, you know, putting people away for whether it was a DUI case or a drug case.  From my standpoint representing retailers, we’ve always seen it as flavored beer.  It’s packaged like beer, it has the same alcohol volume as beer.  It’s sold by the beer distributors, it has a higher price point than beer does currently.  This product in every sense of the word is beer.  What I think the flavored beer industry brings to the table is variety, just like anything else.  Let me just say, variety, in my opinion, is the spice of life.  I mean let’s take a look for instance, the chip industry.  You have regular Lay’s, you got barbeque Lay’s, sour cream and chives Lay’s—you have a whole line but it started with one product which is regular potato chips.  That’s what we feel this industry has become.  

That being said, reclassifying this product would have a detrimental impact we believe, to 35,000 beer and wine licensees throughout the state moving them from a beer and wine to a type 21.  I understand what the Board of Equalization was saying in terms of possible tax increase overall.  I think that’s just more of a formula.  I do think it’d have a bigger impact than that.  

From the access to minors issue, I must say, we’re very big proponents of more enforcement.  And that’s why we’ve supported and will continue to support this year additional funds to ABC, additional to the Governor’s Budget for more enforcement locally as well as the state level.  We believe that’s where it’s at.  Recently, or I shouldn’t say recently, 2003 the Century Council came out with a  study that shows that 65 percent of youth who had access to alcohol received it from family or friends.  It showed that seven percent received it from what a lot of people like to point out which is stores, other on sale establishments.  We definitely believe the social issues need to be addressed.  It’s not one person’s battle.  It’s the whole industry’s battle as well as every person who has a son or daughter out there.

In terms of the marketing I did a little research on this.  In 2003 the Federal Trade Commission which is the main regulatory body for advertising actually took a look into whether flavored beers really were marketed to youth.  They showed there was no evidence, they found there was no evidence of any type of marketing to youth of those products.  And we strongly believe that these products should continue to be under the beer category.  It is a flavored beer.

In addition, I definitely did take a lot of notes.  I wanted to answer one of your questions, Chairman Florez, and I hope you don’t mind.  Took the liberty of naming a test after you, called the Florez Test, in terms of the distinction between which is which.  Every day, every minute most minutes of the day, I should say except for those times that you can’t sell alcoholic beverages, retailers have to make that decision whether to sell that product or not.  Whether the consumer knows what they’re buying or not, retailers who are licensed properly who a lot of them go through ABC training, make the final decision.  If the retailer’s making a bad decision, I think we’re the only group out there that we’ve shown we’re willing to go out and close retailers down for making the wrong decision.  We do that.  Because one bad apple, you know, tends to give the whole bunch a bad look.  The majority of retailers in the state and the numbers I think speak for themselves, have been doing a phenomenal job year after year.  It’s true that not everybody’s perfect.  That’s why we’re here at the table trying to work on this issue, but we’d like to actually take a look into the access issue and more enforcement and other issues.  But, to look at a category and at the highest level, three percent, Board of Equalization said today 2.6 percent and say this is the reason and this is targeting a certain group, I just think that’s not, you know, objectively logical.  Until they show me at least, being a former prosecutor, numbers that say this is the evidence.  This is where we stand.  I mean, maybe then in my opinion, at least, there’s a little more footing.

That being said, any effort to reduce access of alcohol to minors we definitely support.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Alright, great.  Let me just ask a question in terms of the last point you mentioned, the retailers.  How it all stops there.  Is that correct?
MR. ARABO:  I believe so.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  In my district and this is just some talks with—I live in a small town where we only have one grocery store for the whole town.  And so, you know, as I kind of roam and ask the people who are selling this, can they distinguish between this and this, they have a hard time doing that.  That’s the end seller.  So, why do I want to make this such a tough decision for them?  Why?
MR. ARABO:  Firstly, just for my opinion speaking for the areas that we represent, I don’t think it’s that tough of a decision overall.  If they’re, I mean if they have a license, if they’ve been given the privilege by the state to have that type 20 or type 21 license, pretty sure they can read alc. certain volume.  I mean, they’re the same people, and we, just so you know, we represent small independently owned stores.  We don’t represent any chains.  So these stores are their livelihoods.  That’s what puts food on the table.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  They’re supposed to go to—

MR. ARABO:  A lot of them, we recommend it.  About 80 percent of our members go to ABC LEAD training, which is voluntary.  It’s something that we definitely support, more so.  They should know what’s out there in the trade.  Additionally, they’re the ones who are actually ordering the product.  It’s not as though all of a sudden this product just shows up without you knowing what’s up.

SENATOR FLOREZ:   Well, and I think it’s the people they hire sometimes, also, you know, I’m not sure if they’re all going to training from Shafter, California, but probably tell you that they’re not.  I know they’re not logging onto whatever the web site is in many cases.  They’re just simply making an at the register decision and in many cases when these are all thrown up and you know, it makes it harder for them to distinguish, you know, what is alcohol and which one isn’t.  Would you agree that this is a little bit harder than doing this?

MR. ARABO:  I agree.  But, just for this standpoint, I should say the majority of the industry like Smirnoff Ice and Mikes Hard Lemonade, and Bacardi which pretty much dominates the industry.  That is what’s here to stay.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I guess I’m asking about these new proliferation of these can products.  That’s why I asked Mr. Fowler earlier who your competitor is as we move forward, and who’s following who.  It’s, you know, is it the energy drinks?  I mean, I can see the difference right here as I’m looking at it, but it’s getting harder and harder to distinguish from the three or four policemen in my town when someone is, kids are running around in their car drinking this alcohol which kind of clearly might look like an energy drink to law enforcement as they are driving.  So, how am I, you know, you’re an industry person.  You’re telling me the retailer is the end all, don’t sell it, and of course you mentioned parents and of course you mentioned education, as well, but you know, our job is to also try to figure out how to make this more distinguishable as Senator Soto said earlier, how to make it more distinguishable for all of those folks who can make those decisions at the retail end.  And do you have any suggestions for us?
MR. ARABO:  I’d definitely be willing to come to your office and tell you some of my suggestions on which way I think that would go.  I agree with you in terms of, and I’ve never seen those two little cans before.  I’ve seen a lot of these products out in front of you.  I’ve never seen those two cans before.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  I know.  You guys keep saying that.  It doesn’t mean anything because they’re bought in my district, so—

MR. ARABO:  No, you’re absolutely right—

SENATOR FLOREZ:  --and I didn’t go out and get these for the hearing.  I mean these are real products here.  

MR. ARABO:  Absolutely.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And I’m not, I’m just trying to ask a common sense question as we start to delve into this issue and that is can we do something, you know, that makes it clearly distinguishable.  I’ve seen Mike’s Hard Lemonade.  Most people have.  It’s a product everybody understands what it is.  I’m not sure those folks that, you know, in a one grocery town where there are nine convenience stores, you know, and everyone’s buying milk, bread, and something else.  You know, I’m not sure if they understand the distinction.  And I’m not sure if ABC’s going to have the manpower to get out in all those places.  So why can’t we make it easier for the retailer to make that decision on the spot?

MR. ARABO:  And I do think if it was defined the right way where it didn’t reclassify the whole industry and raise taxes in that same sense, I do think there is a way, at least for myself and our organization that possibly can be done.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, and I don’t want to push you in any direction, I’m just giving you a common sense, this is what really happens at least in my district.  And let me ask you the question you’ve all, for your opinion.  I think I’ve asked the ABC earlier what do you think about a fourth category, and start to look at things like accessibility marketing and taxation as a new discussion?  And I think ABC said of course, we’re going to be open to continue to have that discussion, because there is, in their mind, a discretionary decision they’re making.  I didn’t make that word up.  They used it.  And I don’t think the Legislature wants our folks to have discretion in many cases where it’s such a big decision.  They want to have some clarity.  That’s why there’s a court case going on and there’s two sides.  One is saying we’re fine with the current code section—one drop of distilled means distilled.  You guys are saying the law simply says it’s beer, so why are we having this debate?

Our job here in the committee is to try to figure out in between those arguments ultimately what is best for the health and welfare of the people of the State of California, period.  The federal government’s entrusted at least this committee on this half of the house to make that decision.  We’re going to make that decision, and so this hearing is extremely important as we try to figure out a very, very balanced decision, in a way that kind of meets all of the tests.  I think that’s been mentioned earlier, and the slide which is, if you will, and I know the word morals isn’t used around here quite a bit in the building.  But it meets a moral test that we can actually go back to our constituents and say this is a good balance.
And so we do appreciate your testimony and we appreciate you as we begin to dialogue on what direction we’re going to head in to.  And I don’t know if there’s any other questions by members?  Thank you.  Appreciate it.  

MR. ARABO:  Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  That is the end of the formal testimony.  If there are any folks who have come from a ways and would like to make some closing comments, this would be that time, particularly the young adults who took a trip here.  This would be that time.  You don’t have to give long speeches.  Just come on up and give us your name and your thoughts.  Everybody come on up.  You guys can sit and—

MS. BROOKE CLORHIZER:  My name is Brooke Clorhizer.  Thank you for having us here today.  We came from, well, I came from Fresno County.  I’m here representing Youth Leadership Institute.  And my comments on this whole, I guess you could say, debate, and everything is that I know what it’s like to be a youth.  I see the effects it has on my peers.  And I think the most obvious thing is just looking at them and it’s really hard to distinguish between which is alcohol and which is not.
I also wanted to make a comment on that abbreviation, the “alc.”  I don’ like that.  I think the issue here is packaging, marketing, advertisement, and if there could be any kind of change, of course, we need your help.  But, that’s what I’d like to focus on so that it’s more obvious.  I like the idea of you saying a red cap for alcohol or something like that.  I think that would be a really great idea.  And just how it’s affecting our youth.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  You mean, maybe this very top.  

MS. CLORHIZER:  A red cap.  Something very obvious.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Not the fonts, just the top.  

MS. CLORHIZER:  Sure.  Anything that we can make it publicly known this is alcoholic, this isn’t.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Alright.  Thank you.  Senator Soto.

SENATOR SOTO:  What about—it sounds ridiculous, but it could work.  You know how they have the skull and crossbones for the stuff that’s poison?  (LAUGHTER) 

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Senator Soto has a—that’s an interesting suggestion.  I tried that on my five-year-old.  She thought it was kind of the Pirates of Caribbean neat.  So, we have, but I think that concept is exactly kind of what we’re looking at.  Yes.
MS. MILAYSHA RICO:  Okay, my name is Milaysha Rico, and I live in Fresno and I attend a Fresno school.  And my school has 11 liquor stores around it in a one-mile radius.  So there’s like 11 chances for youth to get alcohol.  And as a youth, I know that they do get the alcohol from the stores, and they’re, these drinks are very popular among youth.  They like to drink them because they say they taste just like soda and they can just drink it and drink it and they don’t know that, they don’t feel the alcohol so they keep drinking it to have that feeling they like that buzz feeling and that’s what they all do.  So making these drinks distilled spirits, labeled as distilled spirits instead of beer will make them not like being selled around my school.  And I think that would really help.  And how she said too, it’s hard to distinguish what they are.  Just to think of my brother going into the store with his intentions to buy a Rock Star and he comes out with an alcohol drink, that scares me, like he’s so young and he doesn’t know.  That scares me to think that he could do that and not know.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Thank you very much.

SENATOR SOTO:  I’d like to ask you something else that’s maybe offensive, I don’t know.  Stop me if you think it is.  Does ethnicity, you think, in your mind, have anything to do with where it’s sold and how much of it is sold?  Where can you find that out?  If it’s in a barrio or in a ghetto or, you know, in the really poor sections of town.  Is it a money maker there that people would seek out putting the store in poor sections?
MS. RICO:  There is, yeah, well, when we did our research there was one of the schools that was located in a bad area, it had 30 liquor stores within it, within a one mile radius, and it was in like a—

SENATOR SOTO:  Thirty?

MS. RICO:  Thirty.  And compared to on other parts of our town where it’s like conservative, there was only four within a mile.  So it really depends on the area. 
SENATOR SOTO:  Yeah, thank you.  That’s a good idea and that you noticed that.

MS. CARLA:  Hi, my name is Carla and I work in a small town store.  And how the industry representatives said, yes, parents are buying it for the kids and the, but the retailers, they have, I'm not sure if they’re called wholesalers, the people that come to the store and tell you well we have this new and it’s a good seller.  Well, that’s what they do at our store.  And the retailer tells us well, yeah, sure, if it’s a good seller, bring it.  They’re not really conscious of how he said what it is, what it looks like, if it looks like something else in the store.  And recently this product, that one.  We have been selling it as a sports energy drink.  We didn’t notice the labels.  Our stock guy didn’t really notice it.  He just, it looked like that, well let’s stock it like that.  And we have been selling it and so we noticed the little letters and we, alcohol, the “acl.”, the little ones, we noticed those and that’s when we had to change it.  And our scanners don’t tell you when it’s alcohol.  We have to put it in, so we don’t really know the difference unless you stop and read those little letters.  
And with the parents buying it—I believe with them coming more and more similar to everything else, parents don’t really know what’s the difference.  If someone tells you, oh, can you buy me this?  And it looks like a punch drink, soda, they’re going to say oh that’s fine.  You know, they’re not going to stop and read every label on the packaging to make sure it’s not alcohol.  And the same with the teachers and everything else.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And where do you live?

MS. CARLA:  In Buttonwillow.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  In Buttonwillow.

MS. CARLA:  In Kern County.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, and what’s the demographics of Buttonwillow?  How many Latinos, Spanish speakers are there?

MS. CARLA:  A lot.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I mean, are, the labels are in English, obviously, and not an argument of bilingual labels, but I’m asking from the retailer point of view, is that an issue?  Someone selling it to someone that may not—

MS. CARLA:  Yes, because our retailers are Arabians.  They know English, but not as much as like a person that was born here would know.  And our stock boy is also doesn’t speak any English.  He barely knows how to read Spanish and it’s kind of pretty hard for him to know what acl. means.  Oh, alc., sorry.  I don’t even know it.  (LAUGHTER) 
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you very much.  Okay.

MS. TORRES:  Hi, my name’s Claudia Torres.  I’m from Fresno County, Reedley.  And for me I think it’s a really big problem that alcohol industry because they may not be intentionally targeting young adults, but they do.  And it becomes difficult for families and the community in itself because it affects everybody.  And not only is it now teenagers, but also like with where we live, there’s a school and there’s a little place like right by the school where students, they’re targeted by these people.  Like there’s adults that will go and buy beer for them or they will just offer it to them.  And they’re young.  So when they’re predisposed to this, like they become more likely to drink, so they’re like, they offer them the sweet drinks and that’s what they’re doing.  And this is within the community.  And they don’t have a holder, they’re not aware of what it is.  They just take it, most of them.  And so it becomes difficult for them, the kids to actually know what they’re doing.  So, it’s affecting everybody.  And these problems are more within the school and the problem is it’s within the parks.  So it’s everybody as a whole, the community, it’s affecting everybody, not just teenagers.  It’s becoming children at a younger age are more, they have more availability to the alcohols.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right, and you go to Reedley?

MS. TORRES:  Yeah.

MS. ELIZABETH AVILA:  My name is Elizabeth Avila.  I’m from Fresno County.  I live in Sanger.  Well, in my school like within a mile there’s 11 liquor stores.  And a good friend of mine died from a minor that was drunk.  And not just her, but a lot of high schoolers from our school last year passed away.  But, I just, you know, in my community, alcohol is a big thing.  Big thing.  Not just because there’s a lot of Hispanics there, but it’s just big for everybody, you know?  And like I don’t want like my little sisters or my little brothers to like go and like put—you know how like at school they take like Sprite and then they put liquor in there?  I hate it when they do that.  They do that in my high school a lot.  And then like last time this one girl, she asked my sister if she wanted some.  My sister smells everything before she drinks it, but she said no.  And like I just think that, you know, if they want us, how can we be the future if like most teens are alcoholics, you know?  How can that change?
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.  Very good testimony.

MS. SANDRA CADONA:  Hi.  My name is Sandra Cadona.  I’m here with the Youth Leadership Institute.  I'm from Fresno County, I live in Orange Cove.  And I’m upset at the fact that in our community the average first drink is nine and a half years old.  And by these alcopops being so easy for us to buy and consume, I wouldn’t be surprised at all if like the age of the average first drink would be younger in the future.  And I personally wouldn’t want like to see our little kids be part of that because I believe they are.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.

MS. MIRIAM ABRAHAM:  My name is Miriam Abraham.  I’m from the Youth Leadership Institute.  I am from the Fresno County and I’m ____.  Well, normally, like on T.V. they’re always reminding us that we are the future, and like I always stop to think how can we be the future when they buy all these alcopops for us and like it’s easy for like teens and youths to get a hold of them, because they’re inexpensive and they’re really easy to get.  And so how would that be the future?  How would we be the future if we would be consuming that?  
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.

MARISOL:  Hi, my name is Marisol, again, and I’m from Tulare County.  I just have one more comment.  I'm from Friday Night Live and I personally work with ABC and I just want to say they’ve done a great job.  They’ve come out to our community and I just want to say that they’ve done their part and we just need you guys as legislators to help us and try to get these away from teens and make them less accessible.  So that’s what I ask of you guys today.  Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Thank you.  Okay, anyone else from the public that would like to make any public comment?  Okay, seeing and hearing none, I would like to thank Senator Vincent and Senator Soto for sitting through another three hour hearing as they always do, and they always, now even went to Shafter, California.  

SENATOR SOTO:  May I say something?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes, Nell.
SENATOR SOTO:  I’m really proud of these kids that came up and talked today.  I think it’s a wonderful thing and I think they deserve a good round of applause and keep fighting.  (APPLAUSE)
And don’t stop just because you’re still in school.  Keep going and keep fighting, because as long as there’s victims, there will be people trying to take advantage of it.  Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Good point, Senator Soto.  And I would like to thank everyone that came up and particularly as Senator Soto said, our youth, and I want to thank the people from the industry, the advocates for reclassification, and also the ABC and Jerry Jolly and Charles Bacon for coming all the way out to California, as well.  
This will not be the last hearing we have on this topic, but I want to make sure you’re clear on the reason we had the hearing.  In many cases we have hearings and we’re then asked to vote up or down on the bill right then on that particular document without having the ability to go back and really bring parties together to discuss this.  This hearing was called without a bill.  This hearing was called to discuss without the pressures of having a yes or no vote on a particular bill, an issue.  There will be many bills this session.  I consider the people who are here, Senator Vincent and Senator Soto and those who are listening and the staffs of the members of this committee to be fully informed, somewhat fully informed now of the issues surrounding all of the bills that will come up before us and the inherent conflicts and very, very tough issues that surround this issue as we move forward now as bills begin the process.
And so with that I would encourage everyone in the room to please work with our office.  We’re very interested in trying to figure out this particular issue as it moves forward.  I’m not necessarily a fan of judges making policy decisions for the Legislature, so we can work something out.  That is always my preference and we would invite all of you to participate in that as you have today, very well.  And I think all points were very well represented and everyone did a very good job.

So thank you for joining us.  And I apologize for the length of the hearing, but it is an important topic.  We’ll now adjourn the G.O. Committee.  Thank you.
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